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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of
investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of E Lighting
Group Holdings Limited (the "Company” or “E Lighting”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this report misleading.

BERBMEXREZMAERAT ([BX
Frl) GEMI % &

GEMWEN » DRFNMEARRE-—F@LTH
mEhEATHAEERMEEIRLTHQFT
TERSREAR ARRENMATETER
ERZEQAANECAR YESBEERHF
MEBRAEHRERE -

HRGEMLEHTARZEAT/NEAQT » EGEM
EENIEFTHEEENREIRNEE 2R FAIER
KT ERBEAR BEEIRIFEGEMEE
HWEFZEERBENTS -

BEXBRAEFBERL A RBR T A&
BT RE  HREEIEX TR T EF
KIEMEY  WHEXRT BT AL EHE 2
KNI AR MEL LA FFEZFAE M S/
B2 (E]IBX A E(F

A & ) B TS BRI GEMAE 2 i 42 Al
([GEM EM MR & - EEIEHR B HER
HEBEZERER LA ([AXL G [EHRA )1
EX ARAMEE ([EF]) BB AHEHE
KHEF LGSt A ELRENE - EEFEIEL
—UEEEHE  ERNEMHENE A
EHEENEEEZ T MY B EEL TH R
BREEHFH S AUEEREMER  E
U HAREXE BN RALELHRE -



CONTENTS

2 Corporate Information

REAER

5 Chairman’s Statement

ERE®mE

7 CEQ’s Statement
THARRE

9 Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENMR DM

26 Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEE

31 Corporate Governance Report
EEERRE

56 Report of the Directors
ExERE

66 Independent Auditor’s Report
B BE RS

H &%

74

75

77

78

80

136

Consolidated Statement of Profit or
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REBEEREMEEKER

Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position

REMBRRE

Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity
FEREZEHX

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements

REMB|RMEE

Financial Summary

MBHE




CORPORATE INFORMATION
ACIE=¢ 0

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Hue Kwok Chiu (Chairman)

Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (Chief Executive Officer)
Hui Kwok Wing (Chief Creative Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors
Chung Wai Man

Leung Wai Chuen

Wong Long Yan Milka

COMPANY SECRETARY
Tang Lap Ming

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Hue Kwok Chiu

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit committee

Leung Wai Chuen (Chairman)
Chung Wai Man

Wong Long Yan Milka

Nomination committee
Hue Kwok Chiu (Chairman)
Leung Wai Chuen

Chung Wai Man

Wong Long Yan Milka

Remuneration committee
Chung Wai Man (Chairman)
Leung Wai Chuen

Wong Long Yan Milka

Electricity Ordinance compliance committee
Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (Chairman)

Hui Kwok Wing

Chung Wai Man

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Hui Kwok Keung Raymond
Hue Kwok Chiu

COMPANY'S WEBSITE

www.elighting.asia

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25

EEg

BITES

ATES (£E)

ATE9R (TTECARZL)
MBR(EEEBARE)

BYFHITES
BREX
RIER
B M

DNEME
5037 B

BREME
SFE 8

ZE8
BRERY
RER ()
18X
HBR

REZES
ATES (£E)
RIER
BREX
B M

YMWEES
BEX(EE)
RIER
B HAM

ENRHIEREES
ATE9R (£E)

AFEIER

BREX

REAKR
#rE
FFE s

ANGIE NS
www.elighting.asia



AUDITOR

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants and
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
25/F., Wing On Centre

111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER

as to Hong Kong law

Tso Au Yim & Yeung

14th Floor, Tai Sang Bank Building
130-132 Des Voeux Road Central
Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
4th Floor

Harbour Place

103 South Church Street
George Town

P.O. Box 10240

Grand Cayman KY1-1002
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS, HEAD OFFICE AND
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

10th Floor

Tiffan Tower

199 Wanchai Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China Citic Bank International Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

CORPORATE INFORMATION 2 7] & £}

2 &R
BB EEREMESMERAR
BEDF AT
AR Tl as B A% BLET
=5
FHEBEF1115R
K251

LR
BB L E

R R G R
BAFIR
BEFE R 130-1325%
NERITRE14E

TfMPEEE

4th Floor

Harbour Place

103 South Church Street
George Town

P.O. Box 10240

Grand Cayman KY1-1002
Cayman lIslands

MEAMEERFTEEEME,

%.i;%

AT
**’1¥L199vf
KR L
1042

EEERIRIT
RERTT (BB BRAF
E T AR (M) BRAA

SREEEEZERBERDT 2024/25F %



PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Harneys Services (Cayman) Limited

4th Floor

Harbour Place

103 South Church Street

George Town

P.O. Box 10240

Grand Cayman KY1-1002

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F., Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road,

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
8222

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25

BROBFETRE

Harneys Services (Cayman) Limited
4th Floor

Harbour Place

103 South Church Street

George Town

P.O. Box 10240

Grand Cayman KY1-1002
Cayman Islands

BEERODBFETDRE

EEFBLFTRERAT
&%

ERE169
RREEAOTE

A2 4K 5%

8222



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

E Lighting, a listed company with its business rooted in Hong
Kong and also one of the most established retail chain groups
of lighting and household products in Hong Kong, is committed
to the sustainable development of the environment and society
and is devoted to social responsibility. During the year ended 31
March 2025 (the “Financial Year”), E Lighting has participating
in several events launched by charitable institutions and has been
honoured a “Caring Company” for eleven consecutive years.

Moreover, the Group has been participating in the “Fluorescent
Lamp Recycling Programme”, which provides households with
free collection and treatment for all used mercury-containing
lamps to reduce the environmental risk from improper disposal of
these lamps and recover resources.

Hong Kong retail market remains challenging, and would
continue to be affected by the continuous weak retail sentiment
in the near term. E Lighting has continued to promote its existing
business development. E Lighting will maintain a flexible and
tailored sales and marketing strategy to offer its consumers
with diversified and modern choices by accurately procuring the
suitable products for the domestic market, which will in turn
reinforce E Lighting’s leading market position. In the meantime,
the Group is actively promoting smart home and related
products, such as electronic locks in order to enhance customers’
life quality. For health issues such as the prevention of myopia
for children, E Lighting actively provides low blue light and
flicker-free LED lights.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT = & ¥k &

Looking forward, housing is one of the biggest concerns and
needs for Hong Kong citizens and housing is closely related to
demand of lighting and household products. Therefore, the
Group is afforded with new opportunities in its various lines
of business. The Group will adopt more cautious strategies,
which will be executed with prudence and closely control its
expenditure in order to maintain its competitiveness. The Group
will strive to maintain a streamlined business operation, while
catering for consumers’ specific needs and being responsive to
market changes. Leveraging the support of the capital market, its
own strengths, and the global trends of saving energy, protecting
the environment and pursuing a higher quality of life, the Group
is cautiously confident of its development in the future. The
Group will strive to maintain steady growth and to maximise
returns for the investors.

Hue Kwok Chiu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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Dear Shareholders,

| present the results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2025 (the “Financial Year").

This Financial Year was a year full of challenges and opportunities
for E Lighting. The continuous weak retail sentiment in Hong
Kong have led the retail markets experienced a difficult operating
environment. To address the change in market condition, the
Group took proactive measures to strengthen cost and cash
flow control measures. In addition, the Group timely adjusted its
product strategies and actively carried out promotion activities
and expanded its business. The Group will closely monitor the
trend of the business environment, timely adjust its product
strategies and actively carry out promotion activities, maintain
pragmatic approach for its business and take every chance to
identify any suitable opportunity in the market for the Group.

During the Financial Year, the Group's revenue was
approximately HK$69,737,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 6.2% from approximately HK$74,347,000 as
compared with that of the preceding year, which was mainly
due to the continuous impact of the weak sentiment in the retail
market.

During the Financial Year, the Group’s gross profit was
approximately HK$35,347,000 and recorded a loss of
approximately HK$4,666,000. As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s
net assets were approximately HK$4,023,000.

CEO'S_ STATEMENT
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CEO'S STATEMENT 77 Bk 42 £ R &

The Group will closely monitor the trend of the business
environment, maintain pragmatic approach for its business, and
take every chance to identify any suitable opportunity in the
market for the Group.

Lastly, | hereby express my sincere gratitude to all shareholders,
investors, business partners, staff and customers on behalf of E
Lighting. In spite of the challenges ahead, E Lighting will step
forward with ambitious entrepreneurship to reward for the
continuous supports from all parties.

Hui Kwok Keung Raymond
Founder and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Retail chain business in lighting and designer label furniture is the
core business of the Group. Being one of the most established
retail chain groups of lighting products in Hong Kong, E
Lighting possesses rich experience in the sale of quality lighting
and designer label furniture products from all over the world.
During the Financial Year, the Group timely adjusted its product
strategies and actively carried out promotion activities.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

The Directors foresee that the Hong Kong retail market remains
challenging, retail market would continue to be affected by the
continuous weak retail sentiment in the near term. The Group
will closely monitor the trend of the business environment,
maintain pragmatic approach for its business and take every
chance to identify any suitable opportunity in the market for the
Group.

The Group will continue to concentrate on the consolidation of
its retail network, optimisation of product mix and intensification
of cost control, and will also continue to seize opportunities to
stabilise growth through cautious strategic planning.

In the meantime, the Group is actively promoting smart home
and related products and closely looking for more opportunities
for those businesses.

Looking forward, housing is one of the biggest concerns and
needs for Hong Kong citizens and housing is closely related to
demand of lighting and household products. Therefore, the
Group is afforded with new opportunities in its various lines
of business. The Group will adopt more cautious strategies,
which will be executed with prudence and closely control its
expenditure in order to maintain its competitiveness. The Group
will strive to maintain a streamlined business operation, while
catering for consumers’ specific needs and being responsive to
market changes. Leveraging the support of the capital market, its
own strengths, and the global trends of saving energy, protecting
the environment and pursuing a higher quality of life, the Group
is cautiously confident of its development in the future. The
Group will strive to maintain steady growth and to maximise
returns for the investors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 12 [E & im & o 4T

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the Financial Year, the Group’s revenue was
approximately HK$69,737,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 6.2% from approximately HK$74,347,000 as
compared with that of the preceding year, which was mainly
due to the continuous impact of the weak sentiment in the retail
market.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

During the Financial Year, the Group’s gross profit was
approximately HK$35,347,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 9.7% from approximately HK$39,153,000 as
compared with that of the preceding year. The decrease was
primarily due to decrease in sales and gross profit margin. During
the Financial Year, the Group’s overall gross profit margin was
approximately 50.7%.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

During the Financial Year, the Group’s selling and distribution
expenses was approximately HK$20,468,000, representing
a decrease of approximately 24.9% from approximately
HK$27,271,000 as compared with that of the preceding
year. Selling and distribution expenses primarily consists of
depreciation on right-of-use assets, staff costs (including
salaries and sales commission to salespersons) and electronic
payment charges. The decrease was primarily due to decrease in
depreciation on right-of-use assets.

Administrative and Other Expenses

During the Financial Year, the Group’s administrative and other
expenses was approximately HK$12,387,000, representing
a decrease of approximately 14.4% from approximately
HK$14,469,000 as compared with that of the preceding
year. Administrative and other expenses primarily consists
of depreciation of right-of-use assets of office premises
and warehousing facilities, staff costs (including salaries
to administrative staff and emoluments to Directors) and
professional expenses. The decrease was primarily due to
decrease in staff costs and decrease in depreciation on
right-of-use assets.

Loss for the Year

The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$4,666,000
during the Financial Year (2024: HK$11,511,000).

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E & sm & 2 AT

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

(i) Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Warehouse: (i)

SEANEAKRE MEBLARMNERK
ks

EFRECHEDR

On 30 July 2024 (after trading hours), ELG Operations
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
as tenant finalised the renewal terms with Associated
Development Company Limited as landlord to renew the
existing tenancy agreement for operation of warehouse

RZZE_NE+LA=Z+TH(XRFHRE) -
ERAEELEARAR (AR 2EMN
BAR) (FREPEMEAR IR (¥X)
BMEBEGR NEERAHEEHBAER
SEEEEE(EBEREZHERH]) -

of the Group (the “Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of

Warehouse”).

Principal terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Warehouse:
BEEERBEHERHNTE ZIEHN

Effective date:
B

Earties:
RSP

Premises:
E

Term:

THE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

e RERE :

1 August 2024
—ZE-_MENA—HA

(i)  Associated Development Company Limited as landlord; and

i) MEBRARUER/EL) &

(i)  ELG Operations Limited as tenant.
(i ZRPEELEERQFEATER) -

The landlord is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in
investment holding.

EXTRERBBEMRINDE  TERFREERK -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made
all reasonable enquiries, the landlord of the premises and its respective ultimate
beneficial owners (Mr. Yeung Kwok Kin and Mr. Yeung Kwok Hong) are the parties
independent of and not connected with the Company and its connected persons
(the “Independent Third Parties”).

UBREBERMAAE TRBMBERREEN X VEKKEFEA(GEBLEER
BEREE) RESRERBEAANEORBILE=F -

Flat B, C & D, 14/F, Gee Chang Hong Centre, No. 65 Wong Chuk Hang Road, Hong
Kong
EREMI65BEHEE/TH 0 148B,CRDE

Two years from 1 August 2024 to 31 July 2026 (both days inclusive).
BE_Z-_MOFNA-RBEZZ-_RFtLtA=+—H (BEEEMRX) RHMF -

Not less than HK$1,872,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

MEFN,827,0008 7T - IR FHANGARAHS LB (T REEM  ZHARERE
E HEERALEMIUE) -

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

HPAEBANBERZASNBEERE -

SHRAEEERERAT  2024/25FRH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 12 [E & im & o 4T

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Warehouse:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing
of retail stores and warehouse from time to time. It
would be beneficial to lease the said premises as it will
enable the Group to secure its stable operation at the
said premises without incurring additional costs and
expenses in identifying, renovating and relocating to other
warehouse and ensure that there will be no disruption to
the operations, business and growth of the Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Warehouse
(including the rental charge) were determined after arm'’s
length negotiations between the parties and with reference
to the open market rent of comparable properties in
the nearby districts and the rental payment made by the
Group under the existing tenancy agreements. The Board
considers that the terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement
of Warehouse were entered into on normal commercial
terms, in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group and are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreement of Warehouse:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “lLease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the said premises. Accordingly, the
Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Warehouse is regarded
as acquisition of asset by the Group for the purpose of the
GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement
of Warehouse exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transaction constitutes a discloseable transaction of the
Company, and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 30 July 2024.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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(ii) Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop

335:

On 7 August 2024 (after trading hours), E Lighting Group
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as
tenant has finalised the renewal terms with Sun Hung Kai
Real Estate (Sales and Leasing) Agency Limited as agent
for the owner to renew the existing tenancy agreement for
operation of retail store of retail business of the Group (the
“Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 335").

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E & sm & 2 AT

(i) E|MPHB2EEDGR

RZZE_WOENRtLtB (XRGHFRIE) -
E Lighting Group Limited (AR A2 EWE
NENERFEEME (HERHEE) KIE
ERAFR (EEREANBESEBKRR - U
EERAEHERBIEAEEETSTEER
ZEEEM([EEYPHIBHHECHER
&) e

Principal terms of Renewal of Tenancy Aigreement of Shatin Shop 335:
BB HA335595 4 2 1B 20 F 15K -

Efffective date:
ERBH

Parties:

HESVE

Premises:
Y

Term:

HE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

e RERE :

1 October 2024
—ENF+HA—H

(i) Sun Hung Kai Real Estate (Sales and Leasing) Agency Limited, as agent for the
owner; and

(i) MBEWEHEEMMEIREERAFAUESEIREAN) R

(i) E Lighting Group Limited as tenant.
(i)  E Lighting Group Limited fE&AFF) -

The agent for the owner is a company incorporated in Hong Kong, principally
engaged in property leasing and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sun Hung Kai
Properties Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange (stock code: 16). Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited is also the ultimate
owner of the premises.

FIRBAR—FHRBEBFMACHANRE  FTERXREYMEMEE - TANIBEME
BREBRLDR (ZBROHNERZMER LM (ROKR : 16)) 2 EWEBR R < #%
EMEBRRERAFARMERKEBA -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made all
reasonable enquiries, the agent for the owner, the ultimate owner of the premises
and their respective ultimate beneficial owners are the Independent Third Parties.
NEEEMANGE  UEBMESEENR EIREA DESKKEBARERA
R EREBEAEIRBUYE =7 -

Shop No. 335 on level 3 of 138 Shatin Rural Committee Road, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong

BEAFRD BN ESIR138531E33550 4

One year from 1 October 2024 to 30 September 2025 (both days inclusive).
B _NFTA—HEZZ-_RAFNA=TH(BEEERX) B —F -

Not less than HK$$1,156,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of one year (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

TMER$1,156,0008 7T Al —FHARNGAEAELH (TREEZD  =ARE
BE HEEBBRAMIE) -

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

HPAEBNHERZAXNBEERE -

The tenant is also subject to monthly additional turnover rental, being an amount
by which 15% of the monthly gross receipt(s) of the tenant’'s business at the said
premises during and for the rental payable month (without any deduction) exceeds
the basic rental.

MPMAMNSAENEERHS  DHLPRESENAOCZYWERREBME
T RBKANI5% (PEERNRE) BE S AEREEN S -

SHRAEEERERAT  2024/25FRH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 12 [ 51 7@ &

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Shatin Shop 335:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of
retail stores from time to time. It would be beneficial to
lease the said premises as it will enable the Group to secure
its stable operation at the said premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and
relocating to other retail store and ensure that there will be
no disruption to the operations, business and growth of the
Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin
Shop 335 (including the rental charge) were determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties and
with reference to the open market rent of comparable
properties in the nearby districts and the rental payment
made by the Group under the existing tenancy agreements.
The Board considers that the terms of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Shatin Shop 335 were entered into on
normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a
whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 335:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “lLease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the said premises. Accordingly, the
Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 335 is
regarded as acquisition of asset by the Group for the
purpose of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement
of Shatin Shop 335 exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transaction constitutes a discloseable transaction of the
Company, and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 7 August 2024.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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(iii) Renewal of Tenancy Agreements of Mongkok

Shop:
Premises 1

On 22 October 2024 (after trading hours),
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) %)
as tenant has finalised the renewal terms with Paradon
Investment Limited as landlord to renew the existing
tenancy agreement for operation of retail store of retail
business of the Group (the “Renewal of Tenancy Agreement

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E & sm & 2 AT

(iii) EEEAMHERH= -

YR —
RZZE-_MOE+A-T-H(XEIHR
» Major Will Limited (A2 7] 2 & [t /B
RANEREFPEBRREBRAR (XX)
BEBEBKRR NEERAHEEBRESR
SEETEEEB ZEER([EEHA
WoE—HERRE] -

Major Will

of Mongkok Shop Premises 1").

Principal terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Mongkok Shop Premises 1:

BEEIABFEYE —ZHE i

7+ 2R

Effective date:
B

Parties:

HESVE

Mongkok Shop
Premises 1:

EAEmE—:

Term:

HE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

ENHRERE:

1 January 2025
—E-_h¥F—-H—H

(i)  Paradon Investment Limited as landlord; and

(i) BBREREERAFUEREL) R

(i) Major Will Limited as tenant.
(i) Major Will Limited ({EBHF) -

The landlord is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in
investment holding.
EXR—RREBETMALNRAE  FTEREFREER -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made
all reasonable enquiries, the landlord of the Mongkok Shop Premises 1 and its
respective ultimate beneficial owners (Ms. Leung Choi King and Mr. Ho Kwok Sum)
are the Independent Third Parties.

NEEEMAME TEBAESEEN 2 VE SREBAREYREZL
&ﬁlmﬁ%i)&ﬁﬂ—i&ﬁ BEANEORBIE=77 -

Shop No. 1 on Ground Floor, Kar Wong Building, Nos. 639, 641, 641A, 643 & 645,
Shanghai Street and No. 1H Fife Street, Kowloon
JLEE BB HT6399%, 6415%, 641A%E, 64355 R6455% KR & AT 1H5 K12 1 T 158 4

Two years from 1 January 2025 to 31 December 2026 (both days inclusive).
BE-_Z-_hF A HE_ZT-_R"F+_A=1T—"H(BREEMRX) REMF -

Not less than HK$1,728,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).
TMER$1,728,0008 T BIMEHBATAELAHES
BE EEERANMHEME) -

B (TEREEm =#HME

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

HPABEBABERIZANEERA -

SHRAEEERERAT  2024/25FRH
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Premises 2

On 22 October 2024 (after trading hours), Major Will
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as %)
tenant has finalised the renewal terms with Oceancity
Development Limited as landlord to renew the existing
tenancy agreement for operation of retail store of retail
business of the Group (the “Renewal of Tenancy Agreement

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 12 [E & im & o 4T

vE=
RZE_OFTATZH(XRFIER
Major Will Limited (&2 &2 & W B
RANERMEFPEBBRREBRAR (XX)
BEBEBKR NEERBFHEBHRER
SEETEEEB 2 ZEER((EEHEA
WoE_—_HEmRED -

of Mongkok Shop Premises 2").

Principal terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Mongkok Shop Premises 2:

EERAHYE_HERZ

B B R

Effective date:
A

Parties:

HESVIE

Mongkok Shop
Premises 2:

EAaEmET

Term:

HE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

R ERE:

1 January 2025
—E-_h¥—-HA—H

(i)  Oceancity Development Limited as landlord; and

(i) BEERERAAUEREE) K

(i) Major Will Limited as tenant.
(i) Major Will Limited ({fEBFFP) -

The landlord is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in
investment holding.
FXR—FMRBEBAETMALNRAE  FTEREFREER -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made
all reasonable enquiries, the landlord of the Mongkok Shop Premises 2 and its
respective ultimate beneficial owners (Ms. Leung Choi King and Mr. Ho Kwok Sum)
are the Independent Third Parties.

NBREBEMAME URKRBAEREEN XX WER_REERARERZL
&ﬂlm?ﬁi)&Ea—i&ﬁ—%ﬁ/\i’iﬁﬁjfﬁ_ﬁ °

Shop No. 2 on Ground Floor, Kar Wong Building, Nos. 639, 641, 641A, 643 & 645,
Shanghai Street and No. 1H Fife Street, Kowloon
JUBE LB AT6395%, 6415%, 641A5R, 64358 R6455% K IR & A7 1H5R = A 12 10 T 25% 4

Two years from 1 January 2025 to 31 December 2026 (both days inclusive).
BE-Z-_AF—A—HEZZ=-"F+ZA=1+t—"HREHEEMX) BHEMRF -

Not less than HK$1,728,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).
TMER$1,728,0008 T BIMEHBATAELAHES
BE EEERANMHEME) -

B (TEREEm =#HME

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

HPABEBANBERIZASNEEREA -

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E & sm & 2 AT

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreements of Mongkok Shop Premises 1 and
Premises 2:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of
retail stores from time to time. It would be beneficial to
lease the said premises as it will enable the Group to secure
its stable operation at the said premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and
relocating to other retail store and ensure that there will be
no disruption to the operations, business and growth of the
Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreements of Mongkok
Shop Premises 1 and Premises 2 (including the rental
charge) were determined after arm’s length negotiations
between the parties and with reference to the open market
rent of comparable properties in the nearby districts and
the rental payment made by the Group under the existing
tenancy agreement. The Board considers that the terms
of Renewal of Tenancy Agreements of Mongkok Shop
Premises 1 and Premises 2 were entered into on normal
commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group and are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a
whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreements of Mongkok Shop Premises 1
and Premises 2:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “lLease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the said premises. Accordingly, the
Renewal of Tenancy Agreements of Mongkok Shop
Premises 1 and Premises 2 are regarded as acquisition of
asset by the Group for the purpose of the GEM Listing
Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transactions
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreements of
Mongkok Shop Premises 1 and Premises 2 exceed 5% but
are below 25%, such transactions constitute discloseable
transaction of the Company, and is subject to reporting and
announcement requirements but exempt from shareholders’
approval requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 22 October 2024.

ERITAFENFE —RYX_—ZHE W
i TR e

HRREBRETEXHZHERER K
SEATKHREETEEMTLEE R
HEZVEREAREZE  EAKER
ZENFRESRELE MIAFERIH
KERBBEHTEEMNEELBEINKA
RAX LHREANEENZE XHRE
RAGHE -

EERAMNE-—RPE_ZEEHEZ
R (BREMEE) DAFTOTE2EWIIiT
BAILLBMEZ ARTSES RARER
BERAEHEMZXNZEERATFERE
T - BEEGRREBEXAMYWE-—RYME
“XHEBR BRI RAREE Rk —
MEBEBRETE -RAXGREI L B
FaE - UNEARARBIR 2 EE M o

BEAEYE —RYE_—ZHE
FRGEM_F A RIE T 2 55 -

REZBVHERESEMNE1HE[HEE]
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XEMNEREEENEE - Bt RE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 12 [E & im & o 4T

(iv) Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop (iv) E&Y A3085 o EH:= -

308:

On 27 December 2024 (after trading hours), Culture Art #:%:Ei—}——ﬁ]:ﬂ—ta (X
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as B) XEERQAE (ARaE2EHB AR
tenant has finalised the renewal terms with Sun Hung Kai {’E}%;Fﬁ,l%%i@?(ﬁﬁ%& BE)REAER
Real Estate (Sales and Leasing) Agency Limited as agent ﬂ(%iﬁﬁ/\)ﬁ@ FEGH LNEER
for the owner to renew the existing tenancy agreement for EHEWMSHFEEAERETNZEEEHK Z
operation of retail store of retail business of the Group (the EEH (FE%"/)EBOSFJ“@%Z HEWwZ]) -

“Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 308").

PrmC/pa/ terms of Renewal of Tenanc Agreement of Shatin Shop 308:
BB M3085: & < & s r) E 25K

Effective date:
B

Parties:

HESPIE

Premises:
E

Term:

HE

The aggregate value of
consideration payable:

ENRERE:

3 January 2025
—E-_h¥E—-HA=H

(i)  Sun Hung Kai Real Estate (Sales and Leasing) Agency Limited, as agent for the
owner; and

(i) FHREMEGHELREE)REERAREREIREA) &

(i) Culture Art Limited as tenant.

(iy XBERARUER/BEPR) -

The agent for the owner is a company incorporated in Hong Kong, principally
engaged in property leasing and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sun Hung Kai
Properties Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange (stock code: 16). Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited is also the ultimate
owner of the premises.

%Iﬁfi)\ﬁﬁ?%’\%%&ﬂ%&im A FEREVEEE  TRAMBEME
ERAR QA (uiﬂxf’ﬁﬁf\ ERXFTER LT (RODARI - 16)) WEEMB AR - 3118
EmEZFRERA 77%%%E*ﬂi%ﬁ/\

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made all
reasonable enquiries, the agent for the owner, the ultimate owner of the premises
and their respective ultimate beneficial owners are the Independent Third Parties.
NBRBZMAMGE UEBMASEEN XXIRBEA DEERKEAFANRERE
WERRERBEBEADRBIUE=7 °

Shop No. 308 on level 3 of 138 Shatin Rural Committee Road, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong

BEMBR DB EER138913E3085% 4

Two years from 3 January 2025 to 2 January 2027 (both days inclusive).
B-Z_RF-AZRE_Z_tF-A_RB(BREEMX) REMEF -

Not less than HK$$1,592,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

TMER$1,592,0008 7T BIMFEPAGBAEAHEELE (T REZD  =ARE
BE HEBRRAMIE) -

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

HEAEBANBERZAXNBEERE -

The tenant is also subject to monthly additional turnover rental, being an amount
by which 15% of the monthly gross receipt(s) of the tenant’s business at the said
premises during and for the rental payable month (without any deduction) exceeds
the basic rental.

MPMASNEGAGENNEZBHE:  DHEHPRESENANZYMERREBLRG
GRABKANI5% (NEERAR) BHE A ERHEEHNESE -

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E & sm & 2 AT

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Shatin Shop 308:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of
retail stores from time to time. It would be beneficial to
lease the said premises as it will enable the Group to secure
its stable operation at the said premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and
relocating to other retail store and ensure that there will be
no disruption to the operations, business and growth of the
Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin
Shop 308 (including the rental charge) were determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties and
with reference to the open market rent of comparable
properties in the nearby districts and the rental payment
made by the Group under the existing tenancy agreements.
The Board considers that the terms of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Shatin Shop 308 were entered into on
normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a
whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 308:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “lLease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the said premises. Accordingly, the
Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 308 is
regarded as acquisition of asset by the Group for the
purpose of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement
of Shatin Shop 308 exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transaction constitutes a discloseable transaction of the
Company, and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 27 December 2024.

BEEXNHI8H H M E %2 B/
Rz -
HAREBRELTELB I MEFER &
EEATEREETEEHTIEE R -
MEZYWELEAEEATE  FAEERN
REYEEESBTELE NATEASER -
RERBBEFTEREHMAESEIRA
RN UHRRAEBEMHLE EBR%
BREhH -

EEPH308FHHE W HEZ GHR (B
ME) DHATHOTE2EHTE A LR
MEZAATSEERAREREREHE
EMBEXNIEERATHEREE -EF
SRREB/EBSEIEFHMcEEHZEZ
ERIRAREAE R —REHKBEFIR
—REXGRFL BRFEE AFE
ARRRRBERZEENE -

FEW H3084 2 H E 1% i KGEM_E
TTARIE T2 5% -
REBTBMBREEAFEI6HE[HE]
ARABREFETHFRARNEREBEZY
XEHNTRAEEENEE - Bt - B
GEMEMRA EEN H308KH 2 HE
HEEREASEWRBEE -

MR EEYDAISEG2HERaE T#E
ARG ZERE LR (EER
GEM E R BI$19.0715) HBiB5% B KPR
25%  ERPERARBZAFHER
5 BABETHEHREAEETEEREEST
f& AL AERIE -

HEBELEEN AT EHA T —_MF
+-A-+tEtHEMRE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 12 [E & im & o 4T

(v) Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop

336:

On 15 January 2025 (after trading hours),

(v) EEVH36FEH2EERGR !
Central Sky RZZE_RF— )EH’ H(X %)
Holdings Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the RRIERAERA (KAT%,%SW%’AET)
Company) as tenant has finalised the renewal terms with {’H%%ﬁ,l%%ﬂﬂ?(ﬁﬁ’%& HE)REBRA
Sun Hung Kai Real Estate (Sales and Leasing) Agency ﬂ(%iﬁﬁ/\)ﬁ@ BEEIER LNEER
Limited as agent for the owner to renew the existing BEHEWMHEEAEEE N ZEEEK 2E
’%Eﬁ(fi‘%"/)\ﬁﬂ%fﬁZT EpEl) o

tenancy agreement for operation of retail store of retail

business of the Group (the “Renewal of Tenancy Agreement

of Shatin Shop 336").

Pr/nC/pa/ terms of Renewal of Tenanc

Agreement of Shatin Shop 336:

BHEDM3IHEMIHEEHZNETBIFEH

Effective date:
HHE

Parties:

HESVIE

Premises:
LE

Term:

THE

The aggregate value of
consideration payable:

AR ERE:

20 March 2025
—E-RF=R=+H

(i)  Sun Hung Kai Real Estate (Sales and Leasing) Agency Limited, as agent for the
owner; and

(i) FHREMEFHELREE)REERAAEREIREAN) &

(i) Central Sky Holdings as tenant.
iy HREZERERARWEABERF) -

The agent for the owner is a company incorporated in Hong Kong, principally
engaged in property leasing and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sun Hung Kai
Properties Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock
Exchange (stock code: 16). Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited is also the ultimate
owner of the premises.

FIRBAR—BREBAMAIARAE  FEREYMEMRE  TAFBEME
BREBRAR (ZBRORERAMER LM (RORE - 16)) WEEMBE AT - 1%
EMEZRERACIAMEZKEGA -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made all
reasonable enquiries, the agent for the owner, the ultimate owner of the premises
and their respective ultimate beneficial owners are the Independent Third Parties.
NEBSHMAMG  WEBHECREEH XENEA VRERAFAREER
mF%A\%ﬁAﬂﬁﬁiﬁ 77 e

Shop No. 336 on level 3 of 138 Shatin Rural Committee Road, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong

EBH A AHES 1138531833654

Two years from 20 March 2025 to 19 March 2027 (both days inclusive).
B -_RAF=-A-+AE-ZE-_EF=ZA+NLA(BEEEMX) BEEMF -

Not less than HK$$1,781,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).
TMER$1,781,0008 7 BIMFHBANGAEAH LR (T REEMW  =ZARE
BE - HEBARAMLE) -

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.

HMPAZEBANNERZAXNEERE -

The tenant is also subject to monthly additional turnover rental, being an amount
by which 15% of the monthly gross receipt(s) of the tenant’s business at the said
premises during and for the rental payable month (without any deduction) exceeds
the basic rental.
HETA#SNEREINEEBES BEPRNESENANDZMERREBMIE
& HBKRANI5% (W{’Hﬂﬂ%m}ﬂ)iﬁﬁﬂ EARAHESHESHE -

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2024/25



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E & sm & 2 AT

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Shatin Shop 336:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the
Group has to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of
retail stores from time to time. It would be beneficial to
lease the said premises as it will enable the Group to secure
its stable operation at the said premises without incurring
additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and
relocating to other retail store and ensure that there will be
no disruption to the operations, business and growth of the
Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin
Shop 336 (including the rental charge) were determined
after arm’s length negotiations between the parties and
with reference to the open market rent of comparable
properties in the nearby districts and the rental payment
made by the Group under the existing tenancy agreements.
The Board considers that the terms of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Shatin Shop 336 were entered into on
normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a
whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal
of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 336:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “lLease”, the Company
recognises the value of the right-of-use assets on its
consolidated statement of financial position in connection
with the lease of the said premises. Accordingly, the
Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Shatin Shop 336 is
regarded as acquisition of asset by the Group for the
purpose of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule
19.07 of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction
contemplated under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement
of Shatin Shop 336 exceed 5% but are below 25%, such
transaction constitutes a discloseable transaction of the
Company, and is subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from shareholders’ approval
requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 15 January 2025.

EENHICHEHHE i 2 B/
Rz -
HAREBRELTELB I MEFER &
EEATEREETEEHTIEE R -
MEZYWELEAEETE  FAEERN
REYEREGBTELE NATEASER
RERBBEFTEREHMAESEIRA
RN UHRRAEBEMHLE EBR%
BREhH -

EEPHE3BRHEERZZ GHR (B
ME) DHATHOTE2EHTE A LR
MEZAADTSEERAREREREEHE
EMBEXNZIEERATHEREE -EF
SRREBIHEBCRFTHIEEHRZZ
ERIRAREAE R —REHKBEFIR
—RERXGRFL BRFEE AFE
ARRRRBERZEENE -

FEW H3364F .2 H E %7 RGEM_E
TTARIE T2 5% -
REBZBMBREEAFEI6HE[HE]
ARABREFEVHFRARNEREEZY
XEHNTRAEEENEE - Bt - B
GEMEMRA - EEN H3BKHE2HE
HEEREAESEWRBEE -

MR EEYP ARG 2B E s T#E
ARG ZERE LR (EER
GEM E R BI$19.071§) HBiB5% B KPR
25%  ERPERARBZAFHER
5 BABETHEREAEETEEREEST
f& AL AERIE -

HEFSHBRAATABA-T-HEF
—A+EAMAE -

BREMBEEN RZT_AF=A=+—8#
BERAETMNERRE AMBREETENEQ
AIMEAKRBERHESE -

Save as otherwise disclosed, there were neither significant
investments held as at 31 March 2025 nor material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries during the Financial Year.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

OR CAPITAL ASSETS

()

Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Megabox (i)

shop:

On 2 May 2025 (after trading hours), Urban Lifestyle
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
as tenant finalised the renewal terms with MegaBox
Development Company Limited as landlord to renew the
existing tenancy agreement for operation of warehouse
of the Group (the “Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of

Megabox Shop”).

HE  ARFEAREIBAER
BEEMNETE

EENERBEZHEGS

RZE-_AFRAAZA (REGBEE) -
Urban Lifestyle Limited (&R & & & [ &
A al) {E &7 F BiMegaBox Development
Company Limited (3 ) ## & S & 5K -
NEBREHEMAEASE R EEE
([EENEEEZHERZE]) -

Principal terms of Renewal of Tenanjg)/ Agreement of Megabox shop:
BENGEEE B AT ZEH -

Effective date:
B

Parties:

HESVIE

Premises:
LE

Term:

THE

The aggregate value of

consideration payable:

ENRERE:

23 June 2025
—E-RFAAZ+=H

(i)  MegaBox Development Company Limited as landlord; and
(i)  MegaBox Development Company Limited ({fE &% F) : &

(i) Urban Lifestyle Limited as tenant.
(i) Urban Lifestyle Limited ({E&ATF) -

The landlord is a company incorporated in Hong Kong and principally engaged in
property investment. The landlord is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kerry Properties
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange (stock
code: 683).

XX A RHREBTMALHNRA  FEREVEREER -FIREZEERE
RAGBIZEZEMBLRF - ERMHPEERAER ™ (RGH KR : 683) -

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made
all reasonable enquiries, the landlord of the Premises and its respective ultimate
beneficial owner(s) are the Independent Third Parties.

%%%%Fﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ% CWEBMEAEEN EXTREZENEREREEAYR
BYE=F -

Unit 6 on Level 5 of MegaBox, Enterprise Square Five, 38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon
Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
JUBE JURE & 7 BRE 38R 1 ¥ E 35 5 HIMegaBox 512655 #

Two years from 23 June 2025 to 22 June 2027 (both days inclusive).
BE-E-_AFAAZ+=ZAZE_ZE -+ A1+ (BREEEMKR) BHMF -

Not less than HK$1,892,000, being the monthly basic rental in aggregate for the
term of two years (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning and management charges,
promotion levy and all other outgoings).

TMEFN1,892,000/8 7T - BIMEHBMATAER LB (TREEZM  =ARER
B HEEANMHEME) -

Tenant shall pay the lease payment on monthly basis by internal resources.
HFERBEBANEERE A MHEERE -

The tenant is also subject to monthly additional turnover rental, being an amount
by which 15% of the monthly gross receipt(s) of the tenant’s business at the
Premise during and for the rental payable month (without any deduction) exceeds
the basic rental.

BPETAZGNEARNEERRES AEPRESRNANZYERREBKME
BRBERAKS% (MEEATDE) BEEAEREeHNEE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E & sm & 2 AT

Reasons for and benefits of Renewal of Tenancy
Agreement of Megabox Shop:

Due to nature of its retail business in Hong Kong, the Group has
to enter into tenancy agreements for leasing of retail stores and
warehouse from time to time. It would be beneficial to lease
the said premises as it will enable the Group to secure its stable
operation at the said premises without incurring additional costs
and expenses in identifying, renovating and relocating to other
warehouse and ensure that there will be no disruption to the
operations, business and growth of the Group.

The terms of Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Megabox Shop
(including the rental charge) were determined after arm’s length
negotiations between the parties and with reference to the open
market rent of comparable properties in the nearby districts
and the rental payment made by the Group under the existing
tenancy agreements. The Board considers that the terms of
Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Megabox Shop were entered
into on normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group and are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

Implications under the GEM Listing Rules of Renewal of
Tenancy Agreement of Megabox Shop:

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “Lease”, the Company recognises
the value of the right-of-use assets on its consolidated statement
of financial position in connection with the lease of the said
premises. Accordingly, the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of
Megabox Shop is regarded as acquisition of asset by the Group
for the purpose of the GEM Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under Rule 19.07
of the GEM Listing Rules) for the lease transaction contemplated
under the Renewal of Tenancy Agreement of Megabox Shop
exceed 5% but are below 25%, such transaction constitutes
a discloseable transaction of the Company, and is subject to
reporting and announcement requirements but exempt from
shareholders’ approval requirement.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 2 May 2025.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there is no plan for material
investments or capital assets as at the date of this annual report.

BENEEEZHE#E AR E -

HRREERETERHIUEEER  AKE
ATERHETEEHEAREIT LEE M -
HEZMEREAEEZE EAKERZE
MERSREZE MIAFTERSK KER
WBEH A EMELRRINKA R - LR
AEENEE EHRERTSPEH -

EENEEREZHERZE 2GR (BEER) TS
HAIMSTESERM OB LEYEZ AR™
SHERARERERAAERZE N Z2HES
BATENEE EFERAREENEEEZ
HEWZRZBGRDIRNAEEEE R —REHB
BARE-—RERGRTL BRFAE AN
BARRAMBERZEENE -

BENEEEZHE RZRGEM L4 A
B N2

BEESWBERELENFIGSRIEE] - XA
REEMBRARAEREEZDEBBANGE
FAEEEMNEMB Bt RIEGEM LT R -

ERENEEBEZHEBARBEARBERBEE
= o
MREBNEEEZ2HERETETZED

RPZERABDLE (E&BGEMEM#H BIE
19.071%) HBiB5%E{KR25% * Z R B EK AR
RIZATHERS BETRRERAEHTE
EERBETREIERTE ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & 2 E & i & 9

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$5,389,000 (2024: HK$5,894,000). The gearing
ratio of the Group, calculated as total bank borrowings over total
equity, was nil as at 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil), as the Group
mainly financed the operations from internally generated funds
and had no bank borrowings as at 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

The Group closely monitors the cash flow position to ensure
that the Group has sufficient working capital available to fulfill
its operational requirement. The Group takes into account the
trade receivables, trade payables, cash and bank balances,
administrative and capital expenditures to prepare cash flow
forecast to forecast the Group’s future liquidity.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy. As financial
management, sales proceed is immediately deposit to reputable
and creditworthy banks to ensure security, liquidity and for
meeting future funding requirements.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital of the Group comprises only ordinary shares. As at 31
March 2025, there were 451,035,713 ordinary shares in issue.

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$4,023,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024
HK$8,689,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2025, save as otherwise disclosed, the Group did
not have any material contingent liabilities (2024: Nil).

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group undertakes certain purchase transactions denominated
in Hong Kong dollar, Euro, United States dollar and Renminbi,
hence exposure to exchange rate fluctuations arises. We are
mainly exposed to foreign exchange fluctuation of the Euro
and Renminbi against Hong Kong dollar, as Hong Kong dollar
is pegged to United States dollar. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arises. The Directors are of the view that the
transactional exposure of the Group in currencies other than the
functional currencies is maintained at an acceptable level.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS £ E & sm &k 2 1T

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, there was no charges on the Group's
assets (2024: Nil).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s segmental information is set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitments (2024: Nil).

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the Financial Year (2024: Nil).

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

Total remuneration of the Group for the Financial Year
(including (i) Directors’ emoluments, (ii) salaries to staff and (iii)
MPF contributions) was approximately HK$16,280,000 (2024:
HK$17,827,000).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 41 employees (2024: 47
employees).

REMUNERATION POLICIES

The remuneration payable to the employees includes salaries and
allowances. The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated
based on the performance of individual employees and are
reviewed regularly. Subject to the Group's profitability, the
Group may also provide a discretionary bonus to employees as an
incentive for their contribution to the Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu, aged 58, was appointed as an executive
Director on 26 February 2014. Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu is the
chairman of the Board and head of human resources department.
Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu is also a director of several subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu is responsible for the business
development, operations and business expansion plans and
human resources activities of the Group. Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu is
the younger brother of Mr. Hui Kwok Wing and Mr. Hui Kwok
Keung Raymond, the executive Directors.

Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu has over 33 years of business management
experience and obtained a Bachelor of social sciences degree
from the University of Hong Kong in December 1989.

Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond, aged 62, was appointed as
an executive Director on 26 February 2014. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung
Raymond is one of the founders and chief executive officer of
the Group. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond is also a director
of several subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung
Raymond is responsible for the business development, operations
and devising market strategy and business expansion plans of the
Group. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond is the younger brother
of Mr. Hui Kwok Wing and the elder brother of Mr. Hue Kwok
Chiu, the executive Directors. Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond
is the director of Time Prestige Ventures Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond has over 33 years of experience
in lighting and furniture retails business in Hong Kong and
obtained a Bachelor of arts degree from the University of Hong
Kong in November 1985 and a Master of design degree from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 2010. Mr. Hui
Kwok Keung Raymond also obtained fellow of management and
business administration from the Professional Validation Council
of Hong Kong Industries in September 2023.

Mr. Hui Kwok Wing, aged 63, was appointed as an executive
Director on 19 June 2015. Mr. Hui Kwok Wing is the chief
creative officer of the Group and responsible for the business
development of the Group. Mr. Hui Kwok Wing is the elder
brother of Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond, the executive Director,
and Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu, the executive Director.

Mr. Hui Kwok Wing has over 32 years of experience in product
design, design management and retail business management and
obtained Bachelor of arts degree in industrial design from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1989.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chung Wai Man (“Mr. Chung”), aged 61, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 11 September
2014. Mr. Chung is responsible for providing independent
judgement on the issue of strategy, performance, resources and
standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Chung obtained a Bachelor’s degree (honours) in social
sciences from the University of Hong Kong in December 1989
and a Master’s degree in international business management
from the City University of Hong Kong in November 1998.

Mr. Chung became a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in April 1995 and a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the
United Kingdom in November 1999.

Mr. Chung has around 35 years of experience in accounting,
taxation and finance. Mr. Chung is currently (i) an independent
non-executive director of Net Pacific Financial Holdings Limited
(stock code: 5QY), the shares of which are listed on the
Singapore Exchange Limited, (ii) an independent non-executive
director of Shandong Fengxiang Co., Ltd. (stock code: 9977),
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, (iii) an independent non-executive director of Shanghai
MicroPort MedBot (Group) Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 2252), the
shares of which are listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
and (iv) an independent non-executive director of Zhongmiao
Holdings (Qingdao) Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 1471), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Leung Wai Chuen (“Mr. Leung”), aged 59, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 11 September
2014. Mr. Leung is responsible for providing independent
judgement on the issue of strategy, performance, resources and
standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Leung obtained a Bachelor’'s degree in social sciences from
the University of Hong Kong in December 1989, a Master’s
degree in business administration jointly awarded by the
University of Wales and the University of Manchester in July 2001
and a Master’s degree in business (logistics management) from
Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology (now known as RMIT
University) in September 2007.

Mr. Leung is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom and
an associate of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute respectively.

Mr. Leung has over 34 years’ experience in auditing, accounting,
financial management and company secretarial matters. He
worked for and held senior positions in various listed companies
in Hong Kong and was responsible for their finance, accounting
and company secretarial functions. Mr. Leung is currently the
company secretary of Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1271), and an independent non-executive director of
Fourace Industries Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1455),
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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Ms. Wong Long Yan Milka (“Ms. Wong"”), aged 38, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1 June
2023. Ms. Wong is responsible for providing independent
judgement on the issue of strategy, performance, resources and
standard of conduct of the Group.

Ms. Wong has over 12 years of practice in the legal profession
in Hong Kong. Ms. Wong has been the founder and a managing
partner in ZM Lawyers. Further, Ms. Wong has served as a board
committee member and director of ZM Charity Fund since 2020,
as well as a legal consultant in Carbon Mining Technology
Limited since 2021.

Ms. Wong obtained her Bachelor of Laws Degree with minor in
Social Work and Social Administration from The University of
Hong Kong in November 2010. Ms. Wong has officially admitted
as a qualified solicitor in Hong Kong since December 2013 and is
a member of the Law Society of Hong Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wong Peng Lin (“Mr. Wong"”), aged 53, is the operation
manager of the Group. Mr. Wong joined the Group on 1
December 2003. He is primarily responsible for supervising the
day to day operation of the retail stores in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong
has over 20 years of experience in lighting retail business in the
Group.

Mr. Chang David (“Mr. Chang”), aged 55, is the product &
logistics manager of the Group. Mr. Chang joined the Group on
3 October 2012, he is primarily responsible for overseeing the
product and logistics of the Group. Mr. Chang is also responsible
to oversee compliance with safety requirements of all lighting
and electrical products offered for sale at the retail stores,
monitor the latest development on safety requirements and
enhance closer communications between us and the suppliers in
respect of the safety and certification requirements for lighting
and electrical products in Hong Kong. Mr. Chang has over 28
years of experience in lighting business in Hong Kong.

Mr. Tang Lap Ming (“Mr. Tang”), aged 39, is the deputy
financial controller and company secretary of the Group.
Mr. Tang joined the Group on 17 November 2021, he is primarily
responsible for overseeing the financial and daily secretarial
matters of the Group.

Mr. Tang graduated from Hong Kong Lingnan University with
Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) and is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since January 2001. He has around 18 years of experience in
accounting, auditing, company secretarial and tax consultancy
field.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders of the Company and enhance its corporate value.
The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions as set out in part 2 of the
Corporate Governance Code in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing
Rules (the “CG Code”). To the best knowledge of the Board, the
Company has complied with the code provisions in the CG Code
during the Financial Year.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance with
the required standard of dealings as set out in the Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard of
Dealings”). The Company has made specific enquiries with all
Directors and the Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Required Standard of Dealings and the code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company during the Financial
Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board of Directors

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
three executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board was as follows:

Executive Directors

Hue Kwok Chiu (Chairman)

Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (Chief Executive Officer)
Hui Kwok Wing (Chief Creative Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors
Chung Wai Man

Leung Wai Chuen

Wong Long Yan Milka

Save as disclosed in this report, there is no financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship among members of
the Board.
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Functions of the Board

The principal function of the Board is to consider and approve
the overall business plans and strategies of the Group, develop
and implement the corporate governance function, monitor
the implementation of these policies and strategies and the
management of the Company. The Group has an independent
management team, which is led by a team of senior management
with substantial experience and expertise in the Group’s business
and the Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing the Group’s policies and strategies.

Board Meetings and Board Practices

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other
means of electronic communication in accordance with the
articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”). All
minutes of the Board meetings were recorded in sufficient detail
the matters considered by the Board and the decisions reached.

During the Financial Year, four Board meetings and one
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general meeting were held in addition to circulation of written ZRBITAEEe@HmL " ARERXE - UTE
resolutions. Details of the attendance of Directors are as follows: BEEHELENS
Attendance
i &
General meeting Board meetings
BRXE EEEgga

Executive Directors
BTES
Hue Kwok Chiu (Chairman) 171 4/4
G (EE)
Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (Chief Executive Officer) 171 4/4
TRl SR (7T AEE)
Hui Kwok Wing (Chief Creative Officer) 171 4/4
TR (B ER AL
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHITES
Chung Wai Man I7Al 4/4
BIEX
Leung Wai Chuen LAl 4/4
&R
Wong Long Yan Milka 0/1 4/4
=AM

According to the code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code, the
chairman should at least annually hold meetings with the
independent non-executive directors without the presence of
other directors. The Company complied with the code provision
C.2.7 of the CG Code that the chairman of the Board held
meetings with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Directors.
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Directors’ Appointment, Re-election and Removal

Each of the executive Directors, namely Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu,
Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond and Mr. Hui Kwok Wing, entered
into a new service agreement with the Company for a term
of two years commencing on 11 September 2024, which may
be terminated by not less than three months’ written notice
served by either party on the other, and is subject to termination
provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of
Directors as set out in the Articles.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Chung Wai Man, Mr. Leung Wai Chuen and Ms. Wong
Long Yan Milka, entered into a new service agreement with the
Company for a term of two years commencing on 11 September
2024, which may be terminated by not less than three months’
written notice served by either party on the other, and is subject
to termination provisions therein and provisions on retirement by
rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

By virtue of article 83 of the Articles, the Directors shall have the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as
an addition to the existing Board. Any Director appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by
the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In compliance with the code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code,
every director should be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. Furthermore, pursuant to article 84 of
the Articles, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being, (or, if their number is not a multiple
of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one third)
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at
least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout
the meeting at which he retires.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has three independent non-executive Directors to
comply with Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules. Furthermore,
among the three independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Chung and Mr. Leung have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required by Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing
Rules. In accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Company has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors the written confirmation of his/her
independence. The Company, based on such confirmations,
considers Mr. Chung, Mr. Leung and Ms. Wong to be
independent.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of the chairman and the chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. During
the Financial Year, the role of the chairman of the Board is
performed by Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu and the office of the chief
executive officer of the Company is performed by Mr. Hui Kwok
Keung Raymond. The code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code has
been complied with.

Delegation of Powers

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to
executive Directors and management of the Company with
department heads responsible for different aspects of the
business/ functions, while reserving certain key matters in making
strategic decision for its approval. When the Board delegates
aspects of its management and administration functions to
management, it gives clear directions as to the powers of
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances
where management need to report back and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into
any commitments on behalf of the Company.

Continuing Professional Development

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code,
all directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure their contribution to the board remains informed and
relevant. The Company has arranged and/or introduced some
director’s training courses and has provided monthly financial
highlight, business update of the Group and training materials
for the Directors to develop and explore their knowledge and
skills.

During the Financial Year, all Directors have participated in

continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.
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Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering
the liabilities in respect of legal action against the Directors and
officers of the Company that may arise out in the corporate
activities which has been complied with the CG Code. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the "Audit Committee”)
was established by the Board on 11 September 2014 with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of
the GEM Listing Rules and code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code.
The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Leung. The other
members are Mr. Chung and Ms. Wong. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are mainly to oversee the relationship with
the Company’s external auditor, review the Company’s financial
information and oversee the Company’s financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the consolidated results
of the Group for the Financial Year with the management and
is of the view that such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards, the requirements under the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable legal requirements, and that adequate
disclosures had been made.
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Three Audit Committee meetings were held in addition to B TEBEEZEEAEE  ERZEeN A HE
circulation of written resolutions during the Financial Year. BRI T=Xk&% @ENERZESeR
Details of the attendance of the Audit Committee meetings are [EXAFFBWT :
as follows:
Members Attendance
da Hi g =
Leung Wai Chuen (Chairman) 3/3
RER(FE)
Chung Wai Man 3/3
R
Wong Long Yan Milka 3/3
EHAM
ERPEEZRERART  2024/25F 8K
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The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Financial Year:

1.  Financial Reporting

° reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2024 in conjunction
with the external auditor and the unaudited financial
statements for 3 months ended 30 June 2024 and 6
months ended 30 September 2024;

o reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group;

o reviewed the auditing and financial reporting matters,
including the key audit matters of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2024 which are set out in the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2024,

o reviewed the audit planning for the year ended 31
March 2025 in conjunction with the external auditor;

2. External Auditor

° reviewed and approved the remuneration of external
auditors of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2025;

° reviewed the re-appointment of external auditor
of the Company and was satisfied with its work,
its independence, and its objectivity, and therefore
recommended the re-appointment of BDO Limited
(which had indicated its willingness to continue
in office) as the Group's external auditor for
shareholders’ approval at the 2024 annual general
meeting;
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3. Internal Audit

o reviewed and ensured that the internal audit function,
performed by an independent external consulting
firm (the “Internal Control Adviser”), is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the
Group; and

4. Risk Management and Internal Controls

o reviewed the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
reviewed regularly by management. With the view of enhancing
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems,
during the Financial Year, the Company has engaged the Internal
Control Adviser to review the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and recommend actions to improve the
Group's risk management and internal control systems.

Based on the review, the Audit Committee is of the view that
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems were
generally effective and in compliance with the requirements of
the code provision D.2.1 of the CG Code for the Financial Year
in all material respects.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) was established by the Board on 11
September 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors and is
chaired by Mr. Chung. The other members are Mr. Leung and
Ms. Wong. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are, amongst other things, to review and make recommendations
to the Board on the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses
and other compensation payable to the Directors and senior
management and to make recommendations to the Board on
the policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and
senior management.

One Remuneration Committee meeting was held in addition
to circulation of written resolutions during the Financial Year.
Details of the attendance of the Remuneration Committee
meetings are as follows:

FMWESS
ARAMFMEZE S ((FMEZEED R =

—mEAA+— Hm§$aﬁi ILh¢¥
ERTAGTEDMBERE FTHEZESRE
M=BBUIFRTESAR IEE%E%E
TR CEBKERREERER L -HMEER
EXIEEE (HPEE) BRI MMEETRALE
BEENHFMTEGR ETAREMMERES
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P & R K 2R
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Members Attendance
da Hi g =
Chung Wai Man (Chairman) 11
BREX(EE)
Leung Wai Chuen 171
RER
Wong Long Yan Milka 171
HEAM

REMUNERATION POLICY HEN R

The remuneration policy of the Company (the “Remuneration AATIHEHMES ((FMKE])DEESS B

Policy”) was adopted by the Board and became effective on 1
April 2022.

Quality and committed staff are valuable assets contributing to
the Group’s success. To ensure the ability to attract and retain
talents, the Remuneration Policy is built upon the principles
of providing equitable and market-competitive remuneration
package that support the performance culture and enable the
achievement of strategic business goals. The Remuneration Policy
is, therefore, aiming at being competitive but not excessive.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25

B YR TE-__FNA—BHAEW-

BEEBZRMBEEIRAIRAERZETUK
DHBEEEE - REREHRSIMBEAT
FHRRELEREAFMABMEHRF D
BframRAl L L/{EZT B R 3 F 3R BRR
XEBER -Hit FHERENERRAAHRTF
HERBES



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1k % & )R ¥ &

The remuneration structure is designed to ensure that there is an
appropriate balance of fixed and variable rewards, which include
both short-term and long-term incentives, and is weighted
towards performance-related elements that take into account
individual, functional and corporate performance. No one should
be involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has been delegated to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and non-executive Directors.

The executive Directors are entitled to the remuneration
packages including basic salaries and discretionary bonuses. The
remuneration for the non-executive Directors comprises directors’
fee.

The objective of remunerating non-executive Directors is to
ensure that there is an appropriate level of remuneration to
attract and retain experienced people of high caliber to oversee
the Group’s business and development. Their remuneration is
reviewed annually with reference to companies of comparable
business or scale, and any changes are subject to Board approval.

The Remuneration Committee shall review the Remuneration
Policy to ensure the effectiveness of the Remuneration Policy
annually. The Remuneration Committee shall discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.

The remuneration packages of the Directors were determined by
reference to their experience, duties and responsibilities in the
Company and the prevailing market rate.

Subsequent to a review of Directors’ duties and responsibilities
in the Company as well as the market conditions, the executive
Directors’ remunerations were approved and revised by the Board
with effect from 1 January 2025. The remuneration packages of
Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu, Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond and Mr. Hui
Kwok Wing, remained at the same level as last year.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S REMUNERATION =& E IR 2 2 i
Senior management’s remuneration payment of the Group for RAMBEELYNSHREEBHMN TUTH
the Financial Year falls within the following band: :
Number of
individuals
ATHEE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/% 7T 3
NOMINATION COMMITTEE RELE®

The Board is empowered under the Articles to appoint any person RiEA M SI2MA  EEeAREEEEMAL
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on or, as an additional AZEZENEHMESEETRSAIELETIEKE -
member of the Board. Qualified candidates will be proposed to & E&BIFEABIELREEETSETE @
the Board for consideration and the selection criteria are mainly IEM BENEXERERERAE - EFERN
based on the assessment of their professional qualifications and %J@ﬂ AEBEEG 2 R REHTEE &
experience. The Board selects and recommends candidates for B R[AREHEEREEALTES -

directorship to the shareholders having regards to the balance of

skills and experience appropriate to the Group's business.

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination ZXARIKNEZZES ((BEEKEE8¢]) W=
Committee”) was established by the Board on 11 September —MEAA+—H E%%@W_L I}%Eﬂu—_%
2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with the EATHIH TZEBRESNE FHELE SR
CG Code. The Nomination Committee currently comprises the Hﬂ%%@%fﬁ%’&i%ﬁﬁ#ﬂﬁi%%ﬁ}% iz
chairman of the Board and three independent non-executive FEEFESISEEEETHE MK B AELE
Directors and is chaired by Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu. The other ZHh4ENEL+T - RREZESTEEENEH
members are Mr. Chung, Mr. Leung and Ms. Wong. The primary ZE&#ERh&EE 7 BT 2 MESSEHERS
duties of the Nomination Committee are mainly responsible E R °

for making recommendations to the Board on appointment of

Directors and succession planning for Directors.

One Nomination Committee meeting was held in addition to B TEBFEEARE RELZESERNATRF
circulation of written resolutions during the Financial Year. E&8{TT7 —X&€#% SEBNRELETESE:
Details of the attendance of the Nomination Committee meeting FXRFIBW T :
are as follows:
Members Attendance
e H g =
Hue Kwok Chiu (Chairman) 11
RS (£/E)
Leung Wai Chuen 11
RER
Chung Wai Man 11
EEX
Wong Long Yan Milka 11
=AM
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NOMINATION POLICY

The latest updated version of the nomination policy of the
Company (the “Nomination Policy”) was adopted by the Board
and became effective on 1 April 2022 and the Nomination
Committee is responsible for execution. A summary of the
selection criteria and procedures for recommendation and
selection of candidates for directorship is disclosed below.

Selection Criteria
In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
Nomination Committee shall consider the following factors:

(@) Reputation for integrity;
(b)  Accomplishment, skills and experience in the industry;

(c)  Meeting the "independence” criteria as set out in the
GEM Listing Rules and the composition of the Board is in
conformity with the provisions of the GEM Listing Rules
from time to time (where applicable);

(d) Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest; and

(e) Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited
to, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualification, skills, knowledge and length of
service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the
discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with their
written consent to be appointed as a Director and to the
public disclosure of their personal data on any documents or
the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as a Director.

The Nomination Committee may request candidates to provide
additional information and documents, if considered necessary.
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Nomination Procedures

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting
of the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of
candidates from Board members if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination
Committee may also put forward candidates who are not
nominated by Board members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall
make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidates to stand for election
at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall
make nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation.

Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated persons
shall not assume that they have been proposed by the Board to
stand for election at the general meeting.

In order to provide information of the candidates nominated
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and
to invite nominations from shareholders, a circular will be sent
to shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment period
for shareholders to make the nominations. The names, brief
biographies (including qualifications and relevant experience),
independence, proposed remuneration and any other
information, as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules
and reqgulations, of the proposed candidates will be included in
the circular to shareholders.

A shareholder can serve a notice to the secretary of the Company
within the lodgement period of its intention to propose a
resolution to elect a certain person as a Director, without the
Board’s recommendation or the Director’'s nomination, other
than those candidates set out in the shareholder circular. The
particulars of the candidates so proposed will be sent to all
shareholders for information by a supplementary circular.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any time

before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
secretary of the Company.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25

RERERF
REZESWEACHIERZEEERE TR
FERENERBARE (WA HRERZESH
BRIZRE o Tm%é,\ SNMAREAREEEGK
BIZRAMAE

MERMBRREZR REEZEQ@AEBAEHR
EEeETRELRME MBHEBEREAERRA
gL2E REZEGANEZTGRAHEEE
BRHEB2E -

EEEHHRBERBEA  ®RERAALTTAER
HOREZSHBERRAE L2 E -

RREFEAHEESSRZEBRAS L2EN
REAEHMRBBERREBAE  ARFAHE
MR LAk P BRRERIERM R -

REANES BE(BRERIEBER)

BN Mi&ﬁ@ﬁﬂh@ﬁﬂ%%&
2 RA R AR PIE R (A A R 3 H /98

BRANERHRA EREEFTSHBE LR
ZEENRATRAARNWMERZEN 1
ERIERREE K PTEIRIE A LN E A AT
2RESE- EﬁkﬁﬁkA%ﬁAéﬂﬁﬁ@
HABUNBEXEEBRRAEHEEHEER -

E

ﬂ:L yEE

RBERAE &
i%ﬁiﬁ FIRIE -

17 B AL f] B 1R [A) 22 7]

it



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1k % & )R ¥ &

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to
its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any
general meeting.

As there may be more candidates than the vacancies available,
and the "gross-vote” method will be used to determine who
shall be elected as a Director, shareholder proposed resolutions
shall therefore take the same form as the resolutions proposed
for the candidates recommended by the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy
to ensure the effectiveness of the Nomination Policy annually.
The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The latest updated version of the board diversity policy of the
Company (the “Board Diversity Policy”) was adopted by the
Board and became effective on 1 April 2022 and the Nomination
Committee is responsible for execution. The Board Diversity
Policy aims to set the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualification, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

(i) The Company should comply with the requirements on
board composition in the GEM Listing Rules from time to
time.

(i) The number of independent non-executive Directors should
be not less than three and one-third of the Board.

(iii) At least one of the independent non-executive Directors
must have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.
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(iv) At least one director should be the professional or have
intensive experience of the industry on which the business
of the Group is.

(v)  The Board will not consider diversity to be achieved for a
single gender Board.

The Board has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and its
effectiveness for the Financial Year. The Board has achieved the
measurable objectives under the Board Diversity Policy for the
Financial Year.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and the
diversity profile of the Board, including the gender balance of the
Directors, and the progress on achieving the diversity objectives,
annually. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.

PROGRESS ON AND STATUS OF GENDER
DIVERSITY

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 41 employees,
approximately 66% of whom were male and approximately 34%
of whom were female.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
five male Directors and one female Director. The Nomination
Committee considered that the Board had achieved gender
diversity and possessed skill and expertise and a diverse mix
appropriate for the business of the Company and will review
the composition and diversity of the Board annually to ensure its
continued effectiveness.

Measures to develop a pipeline of potential successors to achieve
gender diversity:

o The Board will identify potential successors internally,
having regard to the industry expertise, leadership skills,
decision making capabilities, communication skills and
professional qualification of the staff.

. The Board will also consider outside sources such as head
hunter and referral.
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EO COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Electricity Ordinance (“EOQ") compliance committee of the
Company (the “"EO Compliance Committee”) was established
by the Board on 11 September 2014. The EO Compliance
Committee currently comprises two executive Directors and one
independent non-executive Director and is chaired by Mr. Hui
Kwok Keung Raymond. The other members are Mr. Hui Kwok
Wing and Mr. Chung. The primary duties of the EO Compliance
Committee are to oversee and monitor the Group’s compliance
of EO and other relevant regulations through regular meetings
and special meetings.

Two EO Compliance Committee meetings were held during the
Financial Year. Details of the attendance of the EO Compliance
Committees meetings are as follows:
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Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (Chairman) 2/2
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Hui Kwok Wing 2/2
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Chung Wai Man 2/2
R

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

All Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for each financial
year to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group and of its financial performance and cash flows for that
financial year. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the Financial Year, the Board has selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgements and
estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. The
Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report. The Directors continue to adopt the going concern
approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements and
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.
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Auditor’'s Remuneration

The remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditor,
BDO Limited, in respect of their audit services for the Financial
Year amounted to HK$680,000. Save as disclosed above, there
was no other non-audit service provided by the auditor during
the year ended 31 March 2025.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Goals and objectives

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
Such risk management and internal control systems are designed
for managing risks rather than eliminating the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The latest updated version of the risk management policy of the
Company (the “Risk Management Policy”) was adopted by the
Board and became effective on 1 April 2022.

The Risk Management Policy is designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Company risk-assessment process should identify and
consider the implications of relevant risks, at both the entity level
and the activity level. The risk-assessment process should consider
external and internal factors that could impact achievement
of the objectives, should analyse the risks, and provide a basis
for managing them. Such risks would include, amongst others,
material risks relating to environmental, social and governance.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant
authorities) of risk management and internal control to the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee (on behalf of the Board)
oversees the management in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems
for the Financial Year.
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Possible risks and uncertainties

The Group’s possible risks and uncertainties range from raw
material risk, market risk, operational risk, credit risk and
financial risk.

Business Risk

The Group’s business risks include rapid change in the general
market conditions, especially the Hong Kong retail market, and
also the downturn pressure on the overall economy of the Hong
Kong and other overseas markets. The Board is responsible for
the overall management of the business and review of material
business decisions involving material risks exposures from time to
time.

Financial Risk

The Board monitors closely the Group’s foreign exchange risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board also reviews monthly
performance, capital structure and key operating

data of the Group.

Compliance Risk

The Board monitors and ensures that the Group is in compliance
with the applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Group
engages professionals from time to time to keep abreast of the
latest developments in the regulatory environment, including
legal, financial, environmental and operational developments. The
Group also adopts a strict policy in prohibiting any unauthorised
use or dissemination of confidential or inside information.

Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

To ensure the efficient and effective operation of the business
and operations, relevant internal control procedures have been
set up for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or
disposition, controlling over capital expenditure, maintaining
proper accounting records and ensuring the reliability of financial
information used for business and publication. These procedures
are monitored and reviewed from time to time and updated
where necessary.
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The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the key processes
of the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact on the business and the likelihood of
their occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

o Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

The Group has engaged the Internal Control Adviser to carry out
the internal audit functions by performing an annual review on
the risk management and internal control systems of the selected
cycles of the selected subsidiaries for the Financial Year. Such
review is conducted annually. The scope of review of Internal
Control Adviser included revenue and receipt cycle, human
resources and payroll cycle and financial reporting cycle for
certain subsidiaries with principal activities of retail chain business
in lighting, designed label furniture and household products in
Hong Kong.
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Internal Control Adviser has reported major findings and
areas for improvement to the Company. All recommendations
from Internal Control Adviser would be followed up closely
by the management of the Group to ensure that they are
implemented within a reasonable period of time. The Group
therefore considered that the risk management and internal
control processes are adequate to meet the needs of the Group
in its current business environment and that nothing has come
to its attention to cause the Board to believe the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are inadequate.

Based on the review, the Audit Committee is of the view that
the Group's risk management and internal control systems were
generally effective and in compliance with the requirements of
the code provision D.2.1 of CG Code for the Financial Year in all
material respects. The Company has reviewed the effectiveness
of the systems of risk management and internal control of the
Group, covering all material controls, including financial and
operation for the Financial Year.

Inside Information Disclosure Policy

To ensure timely, fair, accurate and complete disclosure of
inside information and for compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations, the Group has in place, as an internal control
element, a series of disclosure procedures of price sensitive
information on reporting and dissemination of inside information
and preservation of confidentiality. Under the inside information
disclosure policy, head of the accounting department of the
Company shall report to company secretary of the Company
and Directors any potential/suspected inside information event
as soon as practicable when it materialises for determining the
nature of developments, and if required, making disclosure. All
staff are also required to observe the code of ethical standards
stated in staff handbook to keep non-public information
confidential.
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INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS
Stakeholder Relations and Communications Policy
The Board has adopted a stakeholder relations and
communications policy of the Company (the “Stakeholder
Relations and Communications Policy”) on 18 February 2014. The
purpose of the Stakeholder Relations and Communications Policy
is to establish minimum standards for how the Company and the
Directors will communicate openly about our plans, performance,
values and services to its stakeholders. The Stakeholder Relations
and Communications Policy is summarized as follows:

The Board will submit to the chief executive officer of the
Company an annual report on the activities of the Board and
the chief executive officer of the Company will table that report
before the annual general meeting of the Company. Copies of
annual reports and annual financial statements will be distributed
to a Board-approved distribution list and to any stakeholder
upon request. Annual reports and financial statements will be
distributed to shareholders, the public and the media free of
charge.

The compliance officer or chief executive officer of the Company
is authorized by the Group for providing information for and
handling enquiries from media and investors (including but
not limited to, brokerage houses, analysts, fund managers
and institutional investors). Other enquiries from stakeholders
generally will be directed to the compliance officer or chief
executive officer of the Company who will evaluate the request,
respond directly or through a designate when appropriate or
gather the necessary background information and direct the
request to the chairman of the Board.

The Board has reviewed the Stakeholder Relations and
Communications Policy and its effectiveness for the Financial
Year. The Company has provided appropriate communication
channels to the shareholders in accordance with the Stakeholder
Relations and Communications Policy and therefore existing
Stakeholder Relations and Communications Policy is appropriate
to the Company.
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Shareholders’ Rights

The Company values communication with the shareholders
and investors of the Company. The Company uses two-way
communication channels to account to shareholders and investors
for the performance of the Company. Enquiries and suggestions
from shareholders or investors are welcomed, and enquiries from
shareholders may be put to the Board through the following
channels to the executive Directors:

1. By mail to the Company’s principal place of business at
10th Floor, Tiffan Tower, 199 Wanchai Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong; or

2. By email at investor@elighting.asia.

The Company uses a number of formal communication channels
to account to shareholders and investors for the performance
of the Company. These include (i) the publication of quarterly,
interim and annual reports; (ii) the annual general meeting
or extraordinary general meeting providing a forum for
shareholders to raise comments and exchange views with the
Board; (iii) updating the key information of the Group available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company;
(iv) the Company’s website offering communication channel
between the Company and its shareholders and investors; and
(v) the Company’s share registrars in Hong Kong serving the
shareholders in respect of all share registration matters.

The Company aims to provide its shareholders and investors
with high standards of disclosure and financial transparency.
The Board is committed to provide clear, detailed, timely manner
and on a regular basis information of the Group to shareholders
through the publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports
and/or dispatching circulars, notices, and other announcements.
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The Company strives to take into consideration its shareholders’
views and inputs, and address shareholders’ concerns.
Shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual general
meeting for which at least 21 days’ notice shall be given.
The chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, or in their absence, the Directors are available to
answer shareholders’ questions on the Group’s businesses at the
meeting. To comply with code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code,
the management will ensure the external auditor to attend the
annual general meeting to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report,
the accounting policies and auditor independence.

All shareholders have statutory rights to call for extraordinary
general meetings and put forward agenda items for consideration
by shareholders. According to article 58 of the Articles, any
one or more members holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty one days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person (the “Candidate”)
for election as a director of the Company at a general meeting,
he/she shall deposit a written notice (the “Notice”) at the
Company’s head office located at 10th Floor, Tiffan Tower, 199
Wanchai Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25

ARRIBNEZEEBRRNERLER - L HEE
REBT - ARFSBRREFERRBFAE -
ZAGAEBRHELR2VIBNBAN -ESEERE
NEBERZES REZESGLFHEESH
TR OR(EEFRFE) EFARAE LRAK
FEBDERRER - RETEEBRTASE
F.2. 21657 BIMESC - B IR JE A% HE AR MBS A BUAD
FRRBEFARE U ZREET 2R ®ME
RMEKLAT - @FFBUR R AZBAEDE L1t @ Z 2
fi o

FRERREGBEERNARABRERIAE MR
HE2FENHEBEREE - RIFEMERAR
FE58ff - EA—BHZBRNIE2 BZRA KR
BERIRARBGRBEA (HARKRABREAX
SRER) T 02 —HRER - MERB RS A E
BREMNEFESAARAMERLERER 2
KEZSAMBRENARE  NREAREX
PREANENEERE BZATEREEZEX
BEMEARNET IR AREZR _-_T—HBHRA
EFEeREAAZAE AE2BRKALAAE
TAERAAEBRAE  MARAEREZR
KALTENMERAREEERATHEETS RAE
BRAXEMELNAEMX -

ERFFRAAUIALT ((REA) RBRAS
F2RAKARES ARE-—HEDRM (R
FRA)) RRARAMGRER S BES
79 7 31998 K HBR 0 10/ ©



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1k % & )R ¥ &

The Notice shall:

(i) include the personal information of the Candidate as
required by Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules; and

(i)  be signed by the shareholder concerned and signed by the
Candidate indicating his/her willingness.

The period for lodgment of the Notice shall commence on the
day after the dispatch of the notice of general meeting and
end no later than seven days prior to the date of such general
meeting.

In order to ensure the Company’s shareholders have sufficient
time to receive and consider the proposal of election of the
Candidate as a director of the Company without adjourning the
general meeting, shareholders are urged to submit and lodge the
Notice as early as practicable preferably at least 14 days prior to
the date of the general meeting appointed for such election.

In order to promote effective communication, the Company also
maintains website (www.elighting.asia) which includes the latest
information relating to the Group and its businesses.

INDEPENDENT VIEW POLICY

The independent view policy of the Company (the “Independent
View Policy”) was adopted by the Board and became effective on
1 April 2022.

The Independent View Policy is established to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board.

The Company adopted the Nomination Policy. The nomination
process of Directors, including Independent Non-executive
Directors, is included in the Nomination Policy.

The Board should include at least three Independent
Non-executive Directors. At least one of the Independent
Non-executive Directors has served less than 9 years on the
Board. At least one of the Independent Non-executive Directors
must have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The Company must
appoint Independent Non-executive Directors representing at
least one-third of the Board. The Company shall appoint a
sufficient number of Independent Non-executive Directors to
meet the minimum number required above within three months
after failing to meet the requirement(s).
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The Board committees should comprise a majority of Independent
Non-executive Directors.

Directors should disclose to the Company at the time of their
appointments, and in a timely manner for any changes, the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments. The identity of
the public companies or organisations and an indication of the
time involved should also be disclosed.

When selecting Independent Non-executive Directors, the
candidates’ availability should be considered as sitting on a
Board involves a significant time commitment. Independent
Non-executive Directors must dedicate time to reading materials
prior to Board meetings in order to make the hours spent in
meetings effective. They also have to learn to understand the
Company’s complex business and operational details, market
forces and future perspectives.

The Nomination Committee should be aware of the factors which
may affect an individual’s time commitment to the Company.

Upon reasonable request, Directors may seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense. All Directors should have access to the
advice and services of the company secretary to ensure that
Board procedures, and all applicable law, rules and regulations,
are followed.

The Board shall review the Independent View Policy annually
to ensure its continued effectiveness. Any revisions to the
Independent View Policy shall be considered and approved by the
Board.

The Board was satisfied with the implementation and

effectiveness of the Independent View Policy for the Financial
Year.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
on 20 December 2018. The Dividend Policy aims to allow
shareholders of the Company to participate in the Company’s
profits whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity to capture
future growth opportunities.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining
the dividend amount, the Board shall consider the following
factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

(@) the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(b) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group, together with its
subsidiaries;

(c) the Group’'s working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

(d) the Group’s liquidity position;

(e) general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group; and

(f)  other factors that the Board may considered relevant.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Cayman Islands laws and the Company’s
articles of association.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tang has been appointed as the company secretary of
the Company on 17 November 2021. During the Financial
Year, Mr. Tang has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its principal place of business in Hong Kong
is 10th Floor, Tiffan Tower, 199 Wanchai Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company's principal activity is investment holding while the
Group is principally engaged in retail chain business in lighting,
designer label furniture and household products in Hong Kong.
The principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries of
the Company are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

COMPLIANCE RELEVANT LAW AND
REGULATIONS

During the Financial Year, the Group has complied with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the operations of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company maintains a high standard of corporate governance
practices. Details of the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 31 to 55. The Directors believe the long term financial
performance as opposed to short term rewards is a corporate
governance objective. The Board would not take undue risks
to make short term gains at the expense of the long term
objectives.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Financial Year
and a discussion on the Group’s future business development are
provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 5 to 6, CEO’s
Statement on pages 7 to 8 and Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 9 to 25 of this annual report.

Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group can be found throughout this annual report, in particular
the “Risk Management and Internal Control” section under the
Corporate Governance Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the Financial Year and the state
of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2025 are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 74 to 135.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Financial Year.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Financial Year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
of this annual report, no equity-linked agreement was entered
into by the Company during the Financial Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the Financial Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and in note 26 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE
As at 31 March 2025, the Company had no distributable reserve
that was for distribution to shareholders.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that the employees, customers and
business partners (including suppliers and contractors) are
key stakeholders to the Group’s success. The Group strives to
achieve corporate sustainability through engaging its employees,
providing quality products and services to the customers,
collaborating with business partners to deliver quality sustainable
products and services and supporting the community.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Financial Year, the top five customers together
accounted for approximately 1.2% of the Group’s revenue and
the Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 0.4%
of the Group’s revenue.

During the Financial Year, the top five suppliers together
accounted for approximately 60.0% of the Group’s purchases
and the Group's largest supplier accounted for approximately
23.0% of the Group's purchases.

During the Financial Year, none of the Directors, their close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or any
shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more
than 5% of the Company’s total number of shares in issue) had
any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS & = & $f &

f% 7
RAFHFE  NEBRANESHFBHNE
AW IEMERME25 -

B 7S 88 1 o
PR SR B AR A B S E AR A
B B TR A BT ST PR AS B 1 3 -

ZN/NS

ER]
RAFHRFE AEBRARGNBEESF
BN GAESEHR NG BIREMN
5126 °

A {4 7 Ik £ 48
R-oB-BFZA=+—RA AQALETH
PR T BRI 2 AT 453 IRk o

£ A = A6 BA & AV B 1R
AEBERFET - B RAZBBL (BIEHRE
ARERE) AREBRN N EEFSEREE -
FEBEHNEBHMET  ARSRHELE
BRRY BREBBHSFRESEERASR
BERRRY ARG FHEI M EHR
R RBEE -

FEXFRMUEER
RABBEE BEAEFPARGAERKRALN
12%  MAEEZAEFEAEERALI0.4% °

RABRFE  AAREHEKEAKRERE
#60.0% 1M 78 5= B & A {1 8 7 16 7 5 B 3R BB 40
23.0% °

REABRFE HMEEFTARFCETHEA
THEMER (LEEMARERERRARESHITR
0 (E&ERGEMLEM B A BB #B5%E) RA
SEAAREFRHEHEBEFER -

SHRAEEERERAT  2024/25FRH

57



58

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS &&= & ¥ &

DIRECTORS
During the Financial Year and up to the date of this annual
report, the Directors were:

Executive Directors

Hue Kwok Chiu (Chairman)

Hui Kwok Keung Raymond (Chief Executive Officer)
Hui Kwok Wing (Chief Creative Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors
Chung Wai Man

Leung Wai Chuen

Wong Long Yan Milka

By virtue of article 84 of the Articles, Mr. Hui Kwok Keung
Raymond and Ms. Wong Long Yan Milka will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors, namely Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu,
Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond and Mr. Hui Kwok Wing, entered
into a new service agreement with the Company for a term
of two years commencing on 11 September 2024, which may
be terminated by not less than three months’ written notice
served by either party on the other, and is subject to termination
provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of
Directors as set out in the Articles.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Chung Wai Man, Mr. Leung Wai Chuen and Ms. Wong
Long Yan Milka, entered into a new service agreement with the
Company for a term of two years commencing on 11 September
2024, which may be terminated by not less than three months’
written notice served by either party on the other, and is subject
to termination provisions therein and provisions on retirement by
rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

None of the Directors (including those proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting) has a service contract
which is not determinable by the Group within 1 year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management are
set out on pages 26 to 30.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company (the “Chief
Executives”) in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO")), as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Required Standard of
Dealings were as follows:
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Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company REQATNEERNEFRE
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interests securities shareholding
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Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond  Interest in controlling corporation 210,000,000 46.56%
FFESR e XL E kR (Note)
(M3E)
Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu Beneficial Owner 45,000,000 9.98%
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These shares are held by Time Prestige Ventures Limited, a company wholly-owned

by Mr. Hui Kwok Keung Raymond.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the
Directors or the Chief Executives had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Required Standard of Dealings.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS" AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, to the best of the knowledge of the
Directors and the Chief Executives and based on the public
records filed on the website of the Stock Exchange and records
kept by the Company, the interests and short positions of the
persons or corporations (other than the Directors and the Chief
Executives) in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:

R-ZE_RAF=ZA=1+—H BEERIE
BABMA - REZXABEMIIAFRER A
RAEAIPAFELE  TIALTHEE(EERER
TTHRABBRINRARB RN HABBROHEA A
RIBEFFMPEGRIEBGREMBEREZE
AR 2 R PORR AT -

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company RAEAQATZEERNTFR
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interests securities shareholding
JiE BoRERME &5 8 E REMAOB DL
Time Prestige Ventures Limited Beneficial Owner 210,000,000 46.56%
EnfEAA
Ms. Ng Hiu Ying (Note) Interest of spouse 45,000,000 9.98%
REEsa+ (M) Fo B an
Note: B 5

Ms. Ng Hiu Ying is the spouse of Mr. Hue Kwok Chiu. Under the SFO, Ms. Ng Hiu
Ying is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares in which Mr. Hue
Kwok Chiu is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, no person or
corporation (other than the Directors and the Chief Executives)
who had any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme was to attract and
retain the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to the Eligible Participants and to promote the success of the
business of the Group.

The Company conditionally adopted the Share Option Scheme on
11 September 2014 whereby the Board was authorised, at its
absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Share Option
Scheme, to grant options to the Eligible Participants to subscribe
for the shares of the Company. The Share Option Scheme was
valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing from
the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme has expired on 10 September 2024
and no options are available for issue. Since the adoption of the
Share Option Scheme, no share option has been granted by the
Company.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Financial Year
was the Company, or any of its holding companies or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
and the Chief Executives (including their spouses and children
under 18 years of age) to hold any interests or short positions in
the shares, or underlying shares, or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO).
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which
the Company was incorporated.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Financial Year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required by the GEM
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS” MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY'S BUSINESS

Save as otherwise disclosed, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company, its holding companies, or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or the Director’s
connected party had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Financial Year or at any
time during the Financial Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provides that every Director, is entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto provided that such indemnity shall not extend to any
matter in respect of fraud or dishonesty which may attach to the
Director.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability

insurance throughout the Financial Year, which provides
appropriate cover for the Directors.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the Financial Year.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The controlling shareholders, namely Mr. Hui Kwok Keung
Raymond and the company through which he holds equity
interests in the Company, namely, Time Prestige Ventures
Limited, have entered into a deed of non-competition with the
Company on 11 September 2014. The details of the deed of
non-competition have been disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 22 September 2014.

The controlling shareholders have confirmed the Company
that they had complied with the non-competition undertakings
during the Financial Year. The Board (including the independent
non-executive Directors) has reviewed and confirmed the
compliance with the non-competition undertakings by the
controlling shareholders.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors, the substantial
shareholders of the Company and their respective close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has any interests in a
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The “related party transactions” as disclosed in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year
did not constitute a connected transaction or a continuing
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements thereunder.

There are no other non-exempt connected and continuing
connected transactions during the Financial Year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN

Particulars of retirement benefits plan of the Group as at 31
March 2025 are set out in note 4(k)(ii) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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CONFIRMATION INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
nonexecutive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considered that all the
independent non-executive Directors were independent during
the Financial Year.

COMPLIANCE ADVISER’S INTERESTS

After the completion of the engagement of Ample Capital
Limited as the compliance adviser of the Company in compliance
with Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing Rules on 30 June 2017, the
Company did not have compliance adviser.

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Group is committed to the sustainable development of
the environment and the society. The Group has endeavoured
to comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection and adopted effective environmental policies to ensure
its projects meet the required standards and ethics in respect of
environmental protection.

The Group aims to capture the flourishing LED market,
by monitoring the latest development of policies for LED
products and providing customers with more eco-friendly and
cost-effective LED products. The Group has also assembled
the product portfolio in order that the majority of the lighting
appliance products to be LED compatible, and the Group has
designated several of existing retail shops as LED specialty stores
which primarily showcase LED lighting appliance products.

Moreover, the Group has been participating in the “Fluorescent
Lamp Recycling Programme”, which provides households with
free collection and treatment for all used mercury-containing
lamps to reduce the environmental risk from improper disposal of
these lamps and recover resources.

A standalone Environmental, Social and Governance Report of
the Group shall be published separately and will be posted on
the websites of the Company (www.elighting.asia) and the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group is set out in the financial summary on page 136 of this
annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year
have been audited by BDO Limited who will retire and, being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of BDO Limited as the auditor of the Company
is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

By Order of the Board

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited
Hue Kwok Chiu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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|IBDO

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239

25™ Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

www.bdo.com.hk Hong Kong
EEE - +852 2218 8288 EATHEEPI1115E
{8H : +852 2815 2239 Jk 22548
www.bdo.com.hk

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT BIUREE®RE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
E LIGHTING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of e Lighting
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 74 to 135, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policies information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the "Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

BDO Limited
ERUEREGHMEBRBRAR

HERAEMERERL TRE
(REBRERMA LM ER A7)
BR

BHMEEAERAEEZERERAR(TERR) KA
MEAR (I EEE]INHENET4ZIZBHNEE
BHhEk BER_Z_RAF=A=1+—ANKAH
BRAKXKEHEZ R LFENGESBEa N EM2EE
BHER GARGEDHREIGAHERER  UKEAR
MHBERME  BRERGTHEEH -

BMRAE RAEVERREBESESHARS([F
BEITMAS]) BHOEAMBRELEN ST EIE
EMAFHRE EEER-_ZT_HAF=-A=+—H
NEEMBERAREEEZB LFENGEATBRE
LireRenE  TOBREB(RAEMN)NEER
TEZRRE -

SRAER

HMERBEEESAMASEMNEBRITLENTE
BEFEAD EITER - HMAEXFEA TAED
BECEARS (RBMREA R M BRRAAE
WEE] P EE-—THL - REFTESFHMLE
BAHCREEEGFRMBERTRD (TR - HMBL
B BE&EE TERETAETHEMGEREE RN
BE BRMAEESHETBELT R LEE AT
BB R R R -

BDO Limited, a Hong Kong limited company, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,

and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

(Refer to Note 5(a), Note 15 and Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements)

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of the Group as at 31 March 2025 was approximately HK$36,000
and HK$4,153,000 respectively.

Certain retail shops (cash-generating units (“CGUs") of the Group) had
reported continued losses in the current year which was considered
as an impairment indicator on the property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets. Management has performed an impairment
assessment on these non-financial assets or CGUs which they belong as
at 31 March 2025 to determine the recoverable amount using value in
use calculations.

Based on the result of management’s assessment, impairment loss for the
year of approximately HK$38,000 and HK$5,771,000 were recognised
to reduce the carrying amounts of certain property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, respectively to their recoverable amounts.

Because of the significance of the balance, the existence of impairment
indicator and the determination of recoverable amount of these assets
or CGUs which they belong, using value in use calculations, as well as
the key assumptions applied to the cash flow forecast require significant
judgements and estimates by the management about the future results of
the related business, we have identified this matter as a key audit matter.
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Our response:

- tested management’s assessment as to which groups of property,

plant and equipment and right-of-use assets have indicators of
impairment, together with management’s grouping of such assets
in the relevant CGUs;

- for those CGUs that included property, plant and equipment

and right-of-use assets with impairment indicators, tested the
relevant discounted cash flow forecasts prepared by management,
including:

- assessed the reasonableness of key input data in the cash
flow forecasts by comparing them with historical actual
information;

- compared the expected revenue growth rates to relevant
market expectations such as industry information;

- tested the discount rate with reference to our understanding
of the business including the future business plans of the
relevant CGUs, comparisons to other similar companies and
broader market considerations;

- evaluated the methodologies adopted and checked the
mathematical accuracy of the value in use calculations used
to estimate the recoverable amounts; and

- performed sensitivity analysis on the key input data and
assumptions to the impairment assessment, to understand
the impact of reasonable alternative assumptions that would
have on the estimated recoverable amounts.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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Impairment assessment of inventories
(Refer to Note 5(b) and Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had inventories of approximately
HK$7,867,000 net of provision of HK$1,375,000. Management estimated
the net realisable value of inventories at the end of the reporting period,
and make provision for write-down in value, if any. The Group reviews
and identifies at the end of each financial period, provision for inventories
(if any) is based on recent sales performance, management experience
with characteristic customer purchase behaviour and assessment of
the product’s alignment with current market trend. The management
estimates the net realisable value for inventories based primarily on the
latest market prices and current market conditions. The assessment of
the provision amount required involves management judgement and
estimates.

We had identified inventory valuation as a key audit matter as impairment
assessment on inventories was subject to significant management
judgement and the amount involved could be significant.

Our response:

- Understood and evaluated the Group’s provision policy on
inventories and basis of the assessment;

- Reviewed and assessed obsolete or out-dated inventories identified
by management and estimation of the net realisable value of these
inventories;

- Evaluated historical accuracy of inventory provisioning by
comparing historical provision made to the loss incurred for actual
sales;

- Reviewed inventory ageing analysis and analysing the level of aged
inventory and their associated provisions;

- Tested the carrying amount of aged and obsolete inventories on a
sample basis to the source documents; and

- Reviewed and evaluated net realisable value of inventories, with
reference to subsequent sales information and the external price
data, and performed testing by tracing to the source documents on
a sample basis.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

. identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the work performed for the
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeqguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Leung Tze Wai

Practising Certificate Number PO6158

Hong Kong,
27 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEREkAtEERE R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z —FE -~ A4 =H=+—HIFFZF

LOSS

2025 2024
—E_-hHE —ZT_uF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 3 FTHET FHET
Revenue U == 7 69,737 74,347
Cost of sales $HE AR (34,390) (35,194)
Gross profit EF 35,347 39,153
Other income, gains and losses HEi A - W KR EE 8 283 913
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEMAX (20,468) (27,277)
Administrative and other expenses T R E B (12,387) (14,469)
Impairment loss on property, plant and W WERZEREEBS
equipment (38) (95)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FREEERBEESRE (5.771) (6,831)
Expected credit losses recognised on REBGERRNTEREE
trade receivables Eia (23) (36)
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE (1,116) (1,877)
Loss before income tax R P15 A0 A 18 9 (4,173) (10,513)
Income tax expense FTSBif X 12 (493) (998)
Loss and total comprehensive income for the ~ RNATEE AEHER
year attributable to owners of the Company EREEEEWESERE (4,666) (11,511)
Loss per share BREE
- Basic and diluted (HK cents) — B EE (B 13 (1.03) (2.55)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

e B AR R

As at 31 March 2025 R=ZFE-—AF=H=+—H

2025 2024
—E-RE —TZMF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FERT FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE

Property, plant and equipment M WEREE 15 36 239
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 4,153 4,730
Rental deposits HEZRe 20 2,602 1,239
Deferred tax assets EERRIBEE 24 120 224
6,911 6,432

Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 19 7,867 11,217
Trade and other receivables JE WUk I8 Ko B At JE W R IE 20 4,323 7,446
Tax recoverable A Uy B B IE - 262
Cash and bank balances R MIRITHEER 5,389 5,894
17,579 24,819
Total assets EEHE 24,490 31,251

Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables JE 15 3R I8 Ko H Ath FE A~ FR0E 21 7,875 7,105
Contract liabilities EHEE 22 566 1,014
Lease liabilities HEaE 23 8,363 11,559
Current tax liabilities BIEAFi BB E 279 152
17,083 19,830
Net current assets REBEEFE 496 4,989
Total assets less current liabilities EEHAERRBER 7,407 11,421
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42 & Bf 7& 4k 7 &
As at 31 March 2025 R=F - FE=H=4+—H

2025 2024
—E-HE —ENFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
LbE: FET FAET
Non-current liabilities kREBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 23 3,384 2,732
3,384 2,732
Total liabilities B8EHAE 20,467 22,562
NET ASSETS EERE 4,023 8,689
Equity =
Share capital A% 25 25 4,510 4,510
Reserves k] (487) 4,179
TOTAL EQUITY EmAE 4,023 8,689
On behalf of the Board
REREFS
Hui Kwok Keung Raymond & B i Hue Kwok Chiu $FE &l

Director & % Director &%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

GAREBEDE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &= —ZF -~ AF=H=4—HIFZ

Share Share Other  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve losses equity
BiEN R4 RE Hitf# e R EE BERAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TER TER TER TER
(Note)
(B &)
As at 1 April 2023 —=¥mA—H 4,510 67,066 2 (51,378) 20,200
Loss and total comprehensive FEEBER
income for the year 2ENEARE - - - (11,511) (11,511)
As at 31 March 2024 and EA:;?:EEZH:-I-—EI&
1 April 2024 “T-MFENA—H 4,510 67,066 2 (62,889) 8,689
Loss and total comprehensive FEEER
income for the year 2ENREE - - - (4,666) (4,666)
As at 31 March 2025 RZZEZRF=A=+—H 4,510 67,066 2 (67,555) 4,023
Note: B & -

The other reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value AREBFBHMBHREARATICRTRMEERARER T —NH

of shares issued by the Company and the aggregate nominal value of the issued FAANBEBNERSHAKERB AT R ITIRAEE
share capital of subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation which ERE R =5 o

became effective on 8 September 2014.

ERAKEZERBRAR  2024/25F K
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/-.r\/\iﬁvﬁlllbiie

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{2 —F —AF =H=+—HIFFZE

2025 2024
—E-AREF —E_MmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Cash flows from operating activities RELEZHNRERE
Loss before income tax R P15 750 A BT 1R (4,173) (10,513)
Adjustments for: RTINS EELAE
Impairment loss on property, plant and W WEREEREEBR
equipment 38 95
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FEREEEREREE 5,771 6,831
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% - &= L RETE 168 357
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 7,420 14,429
Gain on lease modification BEEITWRE (12) -
Reversal of provision for impairment loss FEREBERERD
on inventories (532) (131)
Expected credit losses recognised on 1 FE W R IR HE SR Y TR R
trade receivables ZEERE 23 36
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGNE 1,116 1,877
Operating cash flows before EEESRHBAI2RERS
working capital changes RE 9,819 12,981
Decrease in inventories FERD 3,882 1,211
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other FE UG 3018 N ot fE U B
receivables ‘A () 1,737 (539)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables [&{sf Ft I8 K £ b f& (< 18
CR ) /4 (169) 638
Decrease in contract liabilities aEHBERD (448) (167)
Cash generated from operations KEFMBNES 14,821 14,124
Income tax paid BTSN - (554)
Net cash generated from RETHMBREFHE
operating activities 14,821 13,570
Cash flows from investing activities REREZBNELRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME  WEM&E (3) (46)
Net cash used in investing activities RETBHFMANESFEE (3) (46)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= A A=
/ZwTw/:\Iﬁimuiﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z = FE = F#E=H=—1—HIFFEE

2025 2024
—E-RE —ZT_UF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5t FExT FHET
Cash flows from financing activities REBETZBNELRE
Repayment of principal portion of BEAEABEZEASHS
the lease liabilities 30 (14,207) (15,691)
Interest paid =R PR 30 (1,116) (1,877)
Net cash used in financing activities RMETBHRMANESEE (15,323) (17,568)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BE&RBESZEYRD FHE (505) (4,044)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FHZHERBELZEY
year 5,894 9,938
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ERXZBEESRBESEEY 5,389 5,894
Analysis of the balances of cash and cash HERBESEEYERI N
equivalents:
Cash and bank balances & RIRTTHE R 5,389 5,894

ERAKEEZERERAA

2024/25F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iRE B R AR R

ik

CORPORATE INFORMATION

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 29 November 2013 under the Companies
Law. Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered office
and principal place of business are disclosed in the Corporate
Information section of this annual report.

The Company’s issued shares have been listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) since 29
September 2014.

The directors consider that the Company’s parent and ultimate
parent is Time Prestige Venture Limited, a company incorporated in
British Virgin Islands (“BVI").

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding while the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is principally engaged
in retail chain business in lighting, designer label furniture and
household products in Hong Kong and wholesale of tableware,
giftware and other trading. The principal activities and other
particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2025 were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 27 June 2025.

ADOPTION OF HKFRS ACCOUNTING

STANDARDS

(a) Adoption of amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards - Effective for the
current year
In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time
for following amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
(includes Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations) as issued by
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, which
are relevant to and effective for the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for annual period beginning on 1 April
2024:

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
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GEM £ »
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Time Prestige Venture Limited *+ — IR HE &
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ARAMEREBR/RERE  MARFRE
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33°
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2.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

ADOPTION OF HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STAN DARDS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Adoption of amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards - Effective for the
current year (continued)

The adoption of the above amendments in the current year
does not have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
results and financial position.

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards that have been issued but are not
yet effective

The following new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards, potentially relevant to the Group's consolidated
financial statements, have been issued, but are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted by the Group. The
Group's current intention is to apply these changes on the
date they become effective.

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability'
and HKFRS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 9  Amendments to the Classification
and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments’

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards — Volume
112

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements’
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures’

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

The directors anticipate that all of the relevant
pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting
policy for the first period beginning after the effective date
of the pronouncement. The directors are currently assessing
the possible impact of these new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards on the Group's financial results and
financial position in the first year of application. Except for
those mentioned below, the directors consider that these
new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
are unlikely to have a material impact to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

E\‘IJI mm % /% Zt ﬁ% #& 2% %_+

(a)

(b)

T“’,%MHI ] A& 8 B RS R X A
AFEA-RAFELER@®

REFRM EBETHARBENTBEE
BRBBRRY BEMNEATE -

€ 78 5 {8 s K 4 AV T R] R AE S
AERMBREENEER

UTEAEEEAVHHRREEMER
AT R ARE R & B BT s A Rl R
BB & EMERARER  REEL KRR
B ASEB A BN A RENER

EHERAZEE

EE QT EENERE R ALBMY

ERMBRELELSE

198 2 83T

EAPBRELFE SRIANDER

BRBEBHEREE 2

BIE75R 2 1]

EAMBREGH LN BEFHRELED

CHEN S EANEE
B — 111

ERFBRELAFEI8 MBRE 2R

SRZIEET E

ERUBREELSF9 Q%ﬁﬁilf{ﬁ’ﬂﬁ
R R LIRS

! R_B_RAF-—A-HAZRAHKRZF
JE HA RS A AR

: RZB-RF-A-HAZRAHKRZF
JE HA RS A AR

’ RZB_tEF A HAZRAHKRZF
JE HA RS A AR

EEES MARBEBERBIRBALER
AHERRANEERRERARAEE
MEABRE EFREFEZETMITR
BRENEEVBREENGHENRE
BREBFEEYRNEEMBEEERTBR
ROBEZE -BTIXEN  EER
RZEHMAT BRI BE B YR EER
EEHERAN R REH AR B NERE F T
BREREATE -

SREEEEZERBERDT 2024/25F %



82

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 &

ADOPTION OF HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STAN DARDS (continued)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting

Standards that have been issued but are not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

- Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
clarify the date on which a financial asset or financial liability
is derecognised and introduce an accounting policy option
to derecognise a financial liability that is settled through
an electronic payment system before the settlement date if
specified criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to
assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial
assets with environmental, social and governance and other
similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments
clarify the requirements for classifying financial assets with
non-recourse features and contractually linked instruments.
The amendments also include additional disclosures for
investments in equity instruments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income and financial
instruments with contingent features. The amendments shall
be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening
retained profits (or other component of equity) at the initial
application date. Prior periods are not required to be restated
and can only be restated without the use of hindsight.
Earlier application for either all the amendments at the same
time or only the amendments related to the classification of
financial assets is permitted.

The Group is in the process of reviewing the derecognition
practices for financial assets and financial liabilities to ensure
compliance and assess the impact of amendments to the
Group's consolidated financial statements upon adoption.
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2.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

ADOPTION OF HKFRS ACCOUNTING
STAN DARDS (continued)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting

Standards that have been issued but are not
yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements (“"HKFRS 18")

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements
will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements,
introducing new requirements that will help to achieve
comparability of the financial performance of similar entities
and provide more relevant information and transparency to
users. Even though HKFRS 18 will not impact the recognition
or measurement of items in the financial statements, its
impacts on presentation and disclosures are expected to be
pervasive, in particular those related to the statement of
financial performance and providing management-defined
performance measures within the financial statements.
Management is currently assessing the detailed implications
of applying the new standard on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements. Based on preliminary assessment, the
line items presented in the primary financial statements
might change as a result of the application of the concept of
"useful structured summary” and the enhanced principles on
aggregation and disaggregation. The Group does not expect
there to be a significant change in the information that is
currently disclosed in the notes because the requirement to
disclose material information remains unchanged; however,
the way in which the information is grouped might change
as a result of the aggregation/disaggregation principles.

Moreover, there will be significant new disclosures required
for management-defined performance measures. HKFRS
18 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027. Retrospective application is required and so
the comparative information for the financial year ending 31
March 2027 will be restated and disclosed in the 31 March
2028 consolidated financial statements in accordance with
HKFRS 18.

E\‘IJI mm % /% Zt ﬁ% #& 2% \l
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3% 3= B 3

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a) Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRS Accounting
Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange.

(b) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis.

(c) Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company. These consolidated financial
statements are presented in thousands of units of Hong
Kong dollars (HK$°000), unless otherwise stated.

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Group. Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together with unrealised
profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment on
the asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

(b) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able
to exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all
three of the following elements are present: power over
the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of
these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

(d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over their
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful
lives, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. The useful lives are as follows:
Leasehold improvements 4 years or over the lease terms,
whichever is shorter
Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

5 years

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

Leasing

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or finance
leases) are required to be capitalised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, except the leases which are short-term leases.
The lease payments associated with those leases have been
expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

4.
(c)

(d)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B 7% 3 2% B &+

86

The right-of-use assets should be initially recognised at
cost and would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability (see below for the
accounting policy to account for lease liability); (ii) any
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial direct
costs incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs
to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease. The Group measures the
right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under the cost
model, the right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently depreciated over the
shorter of the remaining lease term or their respective
estimated useful life.

The Group presents right-of-use assets separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the date
of commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that
rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case of the Group, the
Group uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right to use the underlying
asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease are considered to be
lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivable; (ii) variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be payable
by the lessee under residual value guarantees; (iv) the
exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee
exercising an option to terminate the lease.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (ontinued) 4. BT HEw
(d) LeaSing (continued) (d) *E.%E(%%)
Right-of-use assets FEREEE

ERREERVSRRATER  LERE )
HEsEZVIFFHE2B (R TXHEE
BEARZEHBE) (DR FHE #%K
ZHERZEMBEENR  BREMD K
MzBEEE: (iVFEBAELEZEMD
FEEMAR - R(vE AR IR & B R
HEEE A IREZEE R PTAR
EZREMSGFEEZBERA - A&
ERBRARAABERREEE - RIE
BRABRRN - HBEERKAREMR
AMEREMRFREEEFTE L5
EMFB2EMEEABETRE

EREEEARRANGEDRARESS
A AFEH (RBEERE)ITE -

KEBZ2 A MBI R EBERE

HERE
HEABENTRAFNEEFRB A
MzBEMNRZRERER °1ﬁ4ﬁiﬂy—]
HH5ETE - E'J%ﬁﬁﬁﬂhﬁﬁfﬁiﬁ E4
ﬂ@ﬁﬂifi fidf &% ) =& /fi‘“%?im(ﬁ'ﬂl&
SEMEEFR) ’E\‘JZJS%I@EﬁHEKTE/\
ZREBEFH K -

REEHN EHSEMBBEHB RN
ZHBAEERRBZATHZIARER
HERK OB FENFORE A EREEE
= (ii)%ﬁ(‘?ﬁ%(jﬁlj}iZTﬁﬁﬁﬁm(%7]
HERARFERA B ZBEANESE)
(iiEFMAREFR G EEEREREN 2
ol (iv),ﬁﬁi%iif?%%,z%ﬂi@(1‘ruﬁ7¥@ﬁ/\
EEMESTERER)  ROKRLHEE
ZE &R (1rﬁfﬂiaﬁﬁ&59&7¥ﬁﬂ/\fﬂiﬂ
LFHREZERN) -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

LeaSing (continued)

Lease ||ab|||ty (continued)

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; (ii) reducing
the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made;
and (iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a change in future
lease payments arising from change in an index or rate, a
change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed
lease payments or a change in assessment to purchase the
underlying asset.

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of a
lease with the lessor, the accounting depends on the nature
of the modification:

o if the renegotiation results in one or more additional
assets being leased for an amount commensurate with
the standalone price for the additional right-of-use
obtained, the modification is accounted for as a
separate lease in accordance with the above policy.

o in all other cases where the renegotiation increases
the scope of the lease (whether that is an extension
to the lease term, or one or more additional assets
being leased), the lease liability is remeasured using
the discount rate applicable on the modification date,
with the right-of-use asset being adjusted by the same
amount.

o if the renegotiation results in a decrease in the scope
of the lease, both the carrying amount of the lease
liability and right-of-use asset are reduced by the same
proportion to reflect the partial of full termination
of the lease with any difference recognised in profit
or loss. The lease liability is then further adjusted to
ensure its carrying amount reflects the amount of
the renegotiated payments over the renegotiated
term, with the modified lease payments discounted
at the rate applicable on the modification date. The
right-of-use asset is adjusted by the same amount.

The Group presents lease liabilities separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3% 3= B 3

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

(f)

Impairment of other assets (other than
financial assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss
or an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount to the extent that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or cash-generating
units (“CGUs"), discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset
or CGU.

A CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets that
generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the
cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost is calculated using the first-in first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Financial instruments

()

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gains or losses on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss (“ECLs"”) on trade receivables, other
receivables and other financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The ECLs are measured on either of
the following bases: (1) 12-month ECLs: these are the
ECLs that result from possible default events within
the 12 months after the end of the reporting period;
and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B 7% 3 2% B &+

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(continued)

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances
for trade receivables using HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (“HKFRS 9") simplified approach and has
calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other receivables and other financial assets, the
ECLs are based on the 12-month ECLs. However, when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime
ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset is
more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Company’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are

recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities at amortised
cost. Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
trade and other payables are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
The related interest expense is recognised in profit or
loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B 7% 3 2% B &+

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

Financial instruments (continued)

(v) Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation
to the financial asset expire or when the financial
asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the
criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Income tax
Income taxes comprise current tax and deferred tax. Income
taxes are recognised in profit or loss.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of reporting period. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount
expected to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty
related to income tax.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts
used for tax purposes. Deferred tax assets also arisen from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the
tax rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the
carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or settled
and that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period and reflects any uncertainty
related to income taxes.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be
recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Revenue and other income recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sales of goods in the ordinary course of the Group's
business.

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions and
recognises revenue on a gross basis. In determining whether
the Group acts as a principal or as an agent, it considers
whether it obtains control of the products or services before
they are transferred to the customers. Control refers to the
Group's ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially
all of the remaining benefits from the products or services.
Revenue is recognised when control of goods or services is
transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Revenue excludes
value added taxes or other sales taxes and is after deduction
of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s recognition policies for revenue
and other income are as follows:

(i) Sales of lighting and furniture products
and tableware and giftware products
The revenue derived from sales of lighting and
furniture products and tableware and giftware
products is recognised at a point in time when
control of the goods has transferred to the customer.
This is generally when the goods are delivered to
the customer and when the customers accept the
products. There is generally only one performance
obligation. The Group also provides installation services
to the customers and these revenue is recognised at
a point in time upon the completion of installation
and customer acceptance. Invoices are usually payable
within 30 days.

(ii) Other income
Interest income is accrued on a time-apportioned
basis by reference to the principal outstanding at the
applicable interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3% 3= B 3

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued
Contract liabilities
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to

()

(k)

transfer goods to a customer for which the Group has

received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)

from the customer.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays

consideration before the Group recognises the related

revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised if the

Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration

before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such

cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are expected
to be settled wholly before twelve months after the
end of the annual reporting period in which the
employees render the related service. Short-term
employee benefits are recognised in the period when
the employees render the related service.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period.

Non-accumulating compensated absence such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

Defined contribution retirement plan
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plan. The Group operates a
defined contribution retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for all its employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. The MPF
Scheme is administered by independent trustees. Under
the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The Group has
no further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. Contributions to the MPF Scheme are
recognised as an expense in profit of loss when the
services are rendered by the employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0

(m)

(n)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, which will
probably result in an outflow of economic benefits that can
be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, the existence of which will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Provision for reinstatement costs

Provision for reinstatement costs is recognised when
a contractual obligation under the terms of a lease
arrangement has arisen to reinstate a leased property at the
end of the lease. Reinstatement costs are provided at the
value of the expected costs to settle the obligation at the
end of the reporting period using estimated cash flows and
an equivalent asset is recognised and included in right-of-use
assets at initial recognition and depreciated over the term
of the lease arrangement. The estimated future costs of
reinstatement are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at the end of each reporting period.

Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that
person’s family is related to the Group
if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of
the Group or the Company’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any
of the following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3% 3= B 3

4. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

5.

(n) Related parties (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if

any of the following conditions apply:

(continued)

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member);

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); or

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to the Company’s
parent.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U N C E RTAI NTY(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated

financial statements, other key sources of estimation uncertainty

that have a significant risk of resulting a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within next financial year

are as follows:

(a)

(b)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group reviews internal and external sources of
information at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that assets may be impaired or an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased, except in the case of goodwill. The Group
estimates the asset’s recoverable amount when any such
indication exists. The recoverable amount of an asset, or of
the CGU to which it belongs, is the greater of its fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and these risks specific to the assets. The preparation of
projected future cash flows involves the estimation of future
revenue and operating costs which are based on reasonable
assumptions supported by information available to the
Group. Changes in the estimates would result in additional
impairment provisions or reversal of impairment in future
years.

Provision for inventories

The Group reviews and identifies at the end of each
financial period, provision for inventories (if any) is based
on recent sales performance, management experience with
characteristic customer purchase behaviour and assessment
of the product’'s alignment with current market trend.
The management estimates the net realisable value for
inventories based primarily on the latest market prices and
current market conditions. The assessment of the provision
amount required involves management judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome or expectation in future
is different from the original estimate, such differences
will impact the carrying value of inventories and provision
charge/written back in the period in which the estimate has
been changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(c)

(d)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
The Group recognises lifetime ECLs for trade receivables,
using a provision matrix based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the end of the reporting period. The amount
of the impairment loss based on ECLs model is measured as
the difference between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
Where the future cash flows are less than expected, or
being revised downward due to changes in facts and
circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.

Taxation

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on
the future tax treatment of certain transactions. The Group
carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions, and tax
provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such
transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into account
all changes in tax legislations. Where the final tax outcome
of these transactions is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such difference will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the year in which such
determination is made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(d) Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and all unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and the unused
tax losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits, which affects the probability
of utilisation and tax rate to be used in the calculations.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting, in accordance with the Group's internal
organisation and reporting structure, provided to the chief
operating decision-maker to make strategic decisions and for
review of the performance of those components.

The Group has two reportable segments. The segments are
managed separately as each business offers different products
and requires different business strategies. The following summary
describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable
segments:

Lighting and furniture . retail of lighting products and
business household furniture in Hong Kong
Tableware, giftware and . retail and wholesale of tableware
other business and giftware and other trading
Inter-segment transactions are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar order. Central revenue and
expenses are not allocated to the operating segments as they are
not included in the measure of the segments’ profit that is used
by the chief operating decision-maker for assessment of segment
performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3% 3= B 3

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEEF @
(a) Business segment (a) ¥¥KDH
For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE-_T_AF=ZA=+—HLHFE
Lighting Tableware,
and giftware
furniture and other
business business Total
BHik EH-#Em
RAEK REMER “ast
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FExT FExT
Revenue from external customers KB INBE P W 69,737 - 69,737
Reportable segment result BIEGE=a i 7,104 - 7,104
Other segment information: Hibp WER :
Depreciation of property, plant and M BE REETE
equipment 160 - 160
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 7,213 - 7,213
Impairment loss on property, plant and Y - BE REERE
equipment B8 38 - 38
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FEREEERERRE 5,771 - 5771
Gain on lease modification BEEITWKE (12) - (12)
Expected credit losses recognised on trade 7 JiE Ut 7 T8 #E 72 & 78 Hf
receivables EEEE 23 - 23
Additions to property, plant and equipment FE Y ¥ - BiFE &R & 3 - 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER @
(a) Business segment (continued) (a) XD
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE-_ZT-_WF-A=+—HILFE
Lighting Tableware,
and giftware
furniture and other
business business Total
wEik  ER-12&
KEXEKE REMEDS @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT T T FHET
Revenue from external customers KEINBE P WS 74,347 - 74,347
Reportable segment result AIRE D EEE 3,186 - 3,186
Other segment information: Hit &R
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERXEITE
equipment 339 - 339
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREENE 14,057 - 14,057
Impairment loss on property, plant and W - BERBERE
equipment E518 95 - 95
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FREEERERIE 6,831 - 6,831
Expected credit losses recognised on trade 7 & U 7% 7B 7 3R &9 78 HA
receivables EEERE 36 - 36
Additions to property, plant and equipment FE W% « E & B 46 - 46
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment results (b) AIFHEDTHEBEZHER
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZTE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Reportable segment result EOEES 7,104 3,186
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE (1.116) (1,877)
Unallocated general office expenses ROl — ﬁx#ﬁ#’\ﬁf?ﬁﬁ (7,196) (9,054)
— Depreciation of property, plant and -E BEREREBITE
equipment (8) (18)
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets -[FRBEEFRE (207) (372)
— Others - HAfh (6,981) (8,664)
Other unallocated corporate expenses (note) H kDB (M) (2,965) (2,768)
Consolidated loss before income tax BRATISTAI AR S EE (4,173) (10,513)
Note: B 5 -
Other unallocated corporate expenses mainly consist of professional HMADECERT T ZREEEERLEM
expenses and other administrative expenses. THMAX -
ERPEEZRERART  2024/25F 8K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 4 Bf 7 3R 2 B =T

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. 7EER W
(c) Segment assets and liabilities (c) PHEERAE
2025 2024
—E_RE —EPFE
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Assets BE
Lighting and furniture business (kI EEEE 3 24,487 31,248
Tableware, giftware and other business BH BomRkEMES 3 3
Consolidated total assets HEBEE 24,490 31,251
Liabilities =R
Lighting and furniture business B R KB XD 19,141 21,417
Tableware, giftware and other business BH BmRkEMER 1,326 1,145
Consolidated total liabilities FeaBam 20,467 22,562
(d) Geographic information (d) HEEFR
No geographical information was presented for the years HMAAREFENKREZKRANE B (ufﬂﬁiﬁj)
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 respectively as the Group’s MEETE) WY EZ2HHRHE-Z
revenue was derived from activities in Hong Kong (place of TRER - ZE-_WME=HA=+—H JJ;¢
domicile). Also, the Group’s non-current assets are located in ERH I E R o AN REBEBRNIERHE
Hong Kong. ELLRES -
(e) Information about major customers (e) BEETTERFEFMNER

The Group had no customer for whom the revenue raised
individually accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s
total revenue during the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024:
Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

7. REVENUE 7. Wi
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by REBMREZANSZFEHIADNEFE A DU
products and timing of revenue recognition are as follows: SHIMR

2025 2024
—E-RE —EOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET
Revenue from contracts with customers: BFEHWE
Sales of lighting and furniture products HEEHRKAER 69,737 74,347
Timing of revenue recognition: BRWRAERE
At a point in time R 69,737 74,347
8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HMWA - WaEKEE
2025 2024
—E-RHE —ZE-UF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Insurance compensation (note) IRBR BE (8 (B 5T) - 635
Gain on lease modification AEBITHkE 12 _
Others Hty 271 278
283 913
Note: sk -
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recognised insurance HE—Z-ME=-A=4+—HIEF A=EEZ
compensation of HK$635,000, received from the insurance company for B EREBATMEANSHHNIREE 6350005 TT

heavy rainstorms.

ERAEEMIBERERAT  2024/25FH 103



104

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3% 3= B 3

9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. KRETGHAIEE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): METERAIEIED R (Ee) -
2025 2024
—= —Eﬁ—: —= —P—I] E‘E
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Auditor’s remuneration % ER BN & 680 710
Carrying amount of inventories sold EHFEREE 29,931 29,400
Written-off of inventories WiEFE - 374
Reversal of impairment loss on inventories FEREEEEKQ (532) (131)
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses ERARINEEKA 29,399 29,643
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - Bz & REHTE 168 357
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAREERE 7,420 14,429
10. EMPLOYEE COSTS 10. BE A
2025 2024
—E-RHE —T-MF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Employee costs (including directors’ EBEXRN(BIFEEEZFHH)
emoluments) comprise: BIE
Salaries and other benefits %‘?%&ﬁfmﬁﬂ 15,709 17,239
Contributions to defined contribution M) B FURRET 81 2 3K
retirement plan (note) (WE) 571 588
16,280 17,827
Note: Mzt -

For the year ended 31 March 2025, no forfeited contribution in respect
of the defined contribution retirement plan was utilised by the Group to
reduce the contribution payable to the plan (2024: Nil). As at 31 March
2025, no forfeited contribution under this plan is available to reduce future
contribution (2024: Nil).
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11. DIRECTORS" EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

M. EEZFMREEESTFMAL

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEZHM
Executive directors: HITESE:
The emoluments paid or payable to executive directors RAFEEINAENFATEETNH
during the year are as follows: Ban T -
Contributions
to defined
Salaries  contribution
and other retirement
Fees benefits plan Total
B € B AR
E BARGEZ
ik Hiig#l EEN st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THER TR Tl
Year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z-A5=A=+—-H
LEE
Hui Kwok Keung, Raymond ~ #F g% - 1,690 18 1,708
Hue Kwok Chiu FrEl gl - 497 18 515
Hui Kwok Wing B35k - 388 18 406
- 2,575 54 2,629
Year ended 31 March 2024 EZ-Z-MNF=F=+—H
HFE
Hui Kwok Keung, Raymond ~ EF [l - 2,220 18 2,238
Hue Kwok Chiu FrEl g - 644 18 662
Hui Kwok Wing FEE - 500 18 518
- 3,364 54 3,418

ERAEEERERAT  2024/25F 8



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 4 Bf 7 3R 2 B =T

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE N E5FWE R EESFTMA LT w
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEFM
Independent non-executive directors: BYEHITESE :
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during RAFEEXN FBIUERNTEETMNE
the year are as follows: ST

Contributions
to defined
Salaries contribution

and other retirement
Fees benefits plan Total
o) 28
HFeR BRstE2
wne Hiti Rl H% gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THER TExT TExT
Year ended 31 March 2025 HZ-Z-fR&=H=1+—-H
LEE
Chung Wai Man EREX 120 - - 120
Leung Wai Chuen 2ER 120 - - 120
Wong Long Yan Milka EHM (D)
(note (b)) 120 - - 120
360 - - 360
Year ended 31 March 2024 HZ-_Z_-_WF=A=+—H
HFE
Chung Wai Man EREX 180 - - 180
Leung Wai Chuen ZER 180 - - 180
Yeung Mo Sheung Ann BELE (@)
(note (a)) 90 - - 90
Wong Long Yan Milka M (M)
(note (b)) 150 - - 150
600 - - 600
Notes: MisT -
(a) Resigned as independent non-executive director with effect on (a) BEBYIFRTES BT =9~
1 June 2023. A—BHREER -
(b) Appointed as independent non-executive director with effect (b) ELZETABYIENTEE B2 -=
on 1 June 2023. FRA—BRERK-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

11. DIRECTORS" EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE

HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, one (2024: two) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in note 11(a) above. The
emoluments of the remaining four (2024: three) highest

M. E2FHRAEEBRESHFMA T @

(b) EEBEHFMAL

AEEBHTAR

BREARNAEZ(ZE _MF:
BENHFME SN EXXHE11@) - BHE
_7_£¢ A=+— Elﬁir“ B}

SHBMALH A —

ﬁﬁ%)

paid individuals during the year ended 31 March 2025 are as EETMAT (ZT_lNF : =5)
follows: E’\]%’%@MD—F :
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-MF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries and other benefits Fe RHEMERN 2,386 1,817
Contributions to defined contribution M) E 88 FOR REH 8 2 it 5K
retirement plan 72 54
2,458 1,871
Emoluments paid to each of above individuals for each of TEEEE R Ll & @A A
the year fell within the following band: NFUATEHE :
2025 2024
—E-RE —T_mMF
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
ATHEE ATHIHE
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 4 3

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors of the Company or the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office

(2024: Nil).

No directors waived or agree to waive any emoluments for
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

U ) o

BE_T_AF=-A=+—BRLEE"
AEBLBEAARR ZEZTLDARD
FEA X HB -
RMAREER 2 RS RBEREE (=S

ERMAREE L

=

BE_Z_AF=-A=+—HILFE"

BEEFARERECAMNE (ZF -

FHE) -

ERAEEZRERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B 7% 3 2% B &+

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12.

The amount of income tax expense in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

Fﬁ i B 32
Em&ﬁ@%ﬁ% £ 3% o 0 FF 18 B B 2
s

2025 2024
—EBC-RE —E-mMF
HK$000 HK$’000
FET FHET

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BUEARi I — BB FEH
- charge for the year —KREFEETH 389 133
— under-provision in respect of prior years —-BAFERETR - 159
389 292
Deferred tax (note 24) IRAEFR 18 (Pt 5524) 104 706
Income tax expense Fre i X 493 998

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2024: 16.5%) on the Group’s estimated assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong for the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group
which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The first HK$2 million of assessable profits of the qualifying
entity is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are
taxed at 16.5%.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to loss
before income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

EBNEHNDIEFAREBEE 2 Bt ERB
HERATEE16.5% (ZF P04 : 16. 5%)%%1%'
WEARE®B BB QAR ZARFAEMRM
FIFEREHE 2 EE - éﬁi%?‘-:%fﬁ@@%%ﬁ
i A FR - B52,000,0005 T 1%8.25% S F 0 M
BRFEFR A v A1 B2 16.5% BB o

fﬁWﬁﬁ ?Rlafﬁi'iéﬁi?v? Bm Mk EM2ERER
WHERPISHATEIRE RN T

2025 2024
—E-RE ZTTF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss before income tax KR FTS R AT ET 1B (4,173) (10,513)
Tax calculated at the applicable domestic BAMEARETE WG
tax rate (689) (1,735)
Tax effect of temporary differences not RIERE E% MEEZ
recognised HBEsE 1,005 1,528
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERBBA 2 BB E
tax purpose (1) -
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERREBEBIRETE 239 649
Tax effect on recognition of previously BRI AERNBIBEEN
unrecognised tax losses g2 (120) -
Reversal of tax effect on previously recognised Eélil f‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁ@j MBIEEER R
tax losses and temporary differences FHEEENBE L 224 529
Effect of two-tiered tax rate regime ﬁﬁi& %‘J MENTE (165) (132)
Under-provision in respect of prior years BEFERB IR - 159
Income tax expense FR5 iR 2 493 998
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

13. LOSS PER SHARE [k

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is based on the
following data:

BREE
5 IR B R S SR T ZEA DA T MR R

2025 2024
—E-RHE —EMF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET
Loss: i
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the 72 R#HEA AE(GER
Company &5 18 (4,666) (11,511)
2025 2024
—E-RE —TMF
‘000 ‘000
] F AR
Number of shares: ROEE :
Weighted average number of shares for the M EFRERARBEEE
purpose of calculating basic and diluted loss  Jn#E 9% 1) 2 B
per share 451,036 451,036
Notes: Bk
(i) Basic loss per share was calculated by dividing the loss attributable 0) FREABEEBEANAREE AELER B

to the owners of the Company by the weighted average number of

ordinary shares in issue during the year.

(ii) For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, diluted loss per
share was the same as basic loss per share as there were no dilutive
potential ordinary shares outstanding during the years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024.

14. DIVIDENDS 14.

The board does not recommend payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2025, nor has any dividend been proposed
since the end of reporting period (2024: Nil).

AERNBETEBROMETHBEE -

(ii) HE-_ZT-_AFR-_F-_MF=A=+—HIE
Eg’mm@ifgfﬁE&foﬂizﬂ
StH-REFEYSEEEREELRER Aus
fR#EB R RS RERNEBIEAR -

iz E

ETeTER ?ﬁ@ifjfﬁi A=+—H
I FEIRMEMMABRS - T8 H®ES 8RR IR &
FRRNEMRE (T ZNE &)
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3% 3= B 3

15. ¥1% - BEKRXRH

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and
improvements equipment Total
ES-
HEWMEEE HERRE st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
THER FET FET
Cost R
As at 1 April 2023 R-ZE-_=ZFMA—AH 5,425 2,039 7,464
Additions NE - 46 46
As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April RZZ_MF=A=+—BxF
2024 —E-NEMA—H 5,425 2,085 7,510
Additions NE - 3 3
Write-off i H (679) (409) (1,088)
As at 31 March 2025 R-E-HF=A=+—8H 4,746 1,679 6,425
Accumulated depreciation and EFITERBEEIE
impairment losses
As at 1 April 2023 R-ZE_=F1MA—H 4,949 1,870 6,819
Depreciation e 284 73 357
Impairment loss recognised (note) JFi{E &5 18 R (M 3T) 5 90 95
As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April R—ZE-FE=A=+—HB K
2024 T FMA—H 5,238 2,033 7,271
Depreciation e 134 34 168
Impairment loss recognised (note) Jil (& /&8 #E32 (Mt 5) 17 21 38
Write-off Ji1 58 (679) (409) (1,088)
As at 31 March 2025 R-ZE-_RAF=A=+—H 4,710 1,679 6,389
Net book value REFE
As at 31 March 2025 R_E_RF=A=+—H 36 - 36
As at 31 March 2024 N-ZTBE-WNE=A=+—H 187 52 239
Note: MEEE -

The impairment loss related to property, plant and equipment approximately
to HK$38,000 (2024: HK$95,000) has been recognised during the year. For
the purpose of impairment testing, retail shops of the Group are determined

as CGUs. The impairment loss attributable to those CGUs were then

allocated to write down the assets in the CGUs (including right-of-use assets

(note 16) and related property, plant and equipment).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. EREEE
Properties leased for own use EBREEEYE
HK$’000
FExT
Cost 5%
As at 1 April 2023 RZZE-_=%FMA—H 69,495
Lease modification HMEBE] 8,381
As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZEZNF=A=+—HBK
—E-_NWHFEW™MA—AH 77,876
Lease modification HEEBET 12,614
De-recognised R (7,099)
As at 31 March 2025 RZZE-_RF=A=+—H 83,391
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses R ERAERSSE
As at 1 April 2023 RZZE_=FWHA—H 51,886
Depreciation e 14,429
Impairment loss recognised (note) EEEER () 6,831
As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZE-_NF=A=+—HBK
—TEWMFEHPA—H 73,146
Depreciation weE 7,420
Impairment loss recognised (note) TEEBEER (M) 5,771
De-recognised AR (7,099)
As at 31 March 2025 RZE-RAF=-A=+—H 79,238
Net book value REEE
As at 31 March 2025 RZE-_RAF=ZA=+—H 4,153
As at 31 March 2024 RZZT_MNF=A=+—H 4,730
Note: B EE -
The impairment loss related to right-of-use assets amounting to EHERFNABEREEENRERIEA5,771,000%8
HK$5,771,000 (2024: HK$6,831,000) has been recognised for the year JT(ZZ P04 : 6,831,000870) * BREELBMD
to write down the carrying amount of the CGUs to their recoverable EHENAEZSETRE S22 gwEENSmS @ KX
amount. For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group’s retail shops are EBNTSEREFARERARSELSEN - KEZEE
determined as CGUs. The impairment losses attributable to those CGUs were CEABUZREBETE T REZSREELEN
then allocated to write down the assets in the CGUs (including property, WEE(BREME BENLKE (M:F15) RE@EFER
plant and equipment (note 15) and related right-of-use assets). HEEE) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %7

16.

17.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs in which the right-of-use assets were
included have been determined from value in use calculations based on
cash flow projections of the remaining lease periods from formally approved
budgets and adopted pre-tax discount rate of 17.20% (2024: 10.64%).
The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are budgeted gross
margin of 31% to 55% (2024: 29% to 59%), growth rate of -8.7% to
1.4% (2024: -6.3% to 5.1%) and wage inflation of 3% (2024: 3%).
The budgeted gross margin and growth rate are determined based on
the CGU’s past performance and management’s expectations regarding
market development. Wage inflation has been estimated with reference
to the independent economic data published by the Census and Statistics
Department of the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative

Region.

Due to the continuous weak retail sentiment, the Group's retail stores
fell short of the expected results and there have been significant impacts

to consumer sentiment and product demand, which adversely affect the

BMBHRME

16. EREEE®™

FRAREEMBHRSELAEMNNITKE S
BILFEHAEEET  HDBRBEESEXMENT
MRIEEHBEENRERNETERI7.20% (ZF
ZVE - 10.64%) AR KBS - £ A
BEMEAZINEERZABEEENEAE3T1%
£55% (ZZF U F : 29%%59% ) KX
B-8T7%E1.4% (ZZTZMF :-6.3%%E5.1%)
NTEMKRERAI% (ZTZMNF :3%) - HE
EAMERBERDNREBAESELEBNNBAE
FENLEBEYMBEEMNEHET - Iéi
ERD2EZBFINTREBFREN A
2T A B R il ET S o

HRBENESTERE  ASENTEEH
REFNBHMES MHBEEEBERERTERAX
T8 SAKEHE_T_AF=—A=1+—

Group's certain retail business performance during the year ended 31 March H Jj:fﬁrﬁ’j%:F EXBHREIE TN FE -
2025. Accordingly, this had an impact on the estimated value in use of Ay EHHPBEcESLBUNGETEREBAE
certain CGUs and impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and # %ésc WHERE  HENLFE &R E AR
right-of-use assets were recognised. BERERRE -
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 7. B EE
Customers
relationship
EFBR%
HK$'000
FHET
Cost 2%
As at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 RZZ_=FMA—H"
and 31 March 2025 —EF-ME=A=F—H"
—E_MFHEA—-BHR
—F_hF=A=+—H 8,041
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses RitBERBEREE
As at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 RZZ_=FMA—H"
and 31 March 2025 —EF-ME=A=F—A"
“ECNFENA-HR
—ET-hFE=A=+—H 8,041

Net book value
As at 31 March 2024 and 2025

AREFE
R-ZE-_NER-Z-_RAF=A=+—8 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

18. GOODWILL 18. B2
HK$’000
FExT
Cost 2%
As at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 RZZTZ=FMHA—H "
and 31 March 2025 —E_NFE=RA=+—8"
ZEFEMA—H R
—TE-RF=ZA=+—H 36,906
Accumulated impairment losses 2t REESSE
As at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 WZEZ_=FWA—H -
and 31 March 2025 —EZME=A=+—H"
ZEZEFmMA—A R
—E-_RAF=A=+—H 36,906
Net book value BREFE
As at 31 March 2024 and 2025 RZEZNFER-ZZE-_RAF=-A=+—H -
19. INVENTORIES 19. 78
2025 2024
—E-RE —TmMF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Merchandise S 9,242 13,124
Less: provision of impairment loss B R B S 18 B R (1,375) (1,907)
7,867 11,217
A reversal of impairment loss of approximately HK$532,000 (2024 BE-_E-_HAE=-"A=+—BHIEEE®AY
HK$131,000) for the carrying value of merchandise have been HEEMEE 2R E BB 4532,0008 T (ZF
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2025. The impairment Z PN 131,000 7T) c AR ETEEMEKEA
provision was made for the slow moving of certain lighting and ELMEEEEES TS mMSEEEEE  WE
household furniture products as a result of change in consumer OB BB o
preferences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3% 3= B 3

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. BN FRIE & H At FE W TR IR
2025 2024
—E-HF —FTomEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Trade receivables, net JE U FRIB F5R 94 289
Deposits and other receivables R & & OE A JE WK 6,195 6,953
Prepayments TE IR 636 1,443
6,925 8,685
Less: non-current — rental deposits B ERNE - E RS (2,602) (1,239)
4,323 7,446

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. The average credit

period on sales of goods is ranged from 0 — 30 days from invoice

date. At the end of reporting period, ageing analysis of the
trade receivables net of impairment losses of HK$422,000 (2024:

HK$399,000), based on invoice date, is as follows:

ERFBBATE - HEEMH T EEH
BERMEANTOEIR - RIRE MK ﬁEH&z
FRIE (B EE E518422,00008 7T (Z T U4 -
399,000 7)) IHEEHHMRR S TOT -

2025 2024
—EC-RE —E-MF
HK$'000 HK$’000
THET FET
Within 30 days 30K 54 114
31 to 90 days 31£90K 35 98
91 to 180 days 91£180K - 61
Over 180 days A 180K 5 16
94 289

The Group assessed impairment loss based on the accounting policy A BAR 5 M 5E4Q)(FT &L B B & 5T R FE (G

as stated in note 4(g)(ii). The Group did not hold any collateral as
security or other credit enhancement over the trade receivables.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising

from trade receivables are set out in note 29(b).

Included in deposits and other receivables were rental and utility
deposits of approximately HK$5,647,000 (2024: HK$6,138,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. ERRIERHMEN IR
2025 2024
—EC-RHE —EZNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Trade payables P&~ A 3,387 3,527
Accruals and other payables JE 5 3R T8 Ko E e 5 FRIE 3,522 3,528
Provision for reinstatement costs BEX AR E 966 50
7,875 7,105
Trade payables are non-interest bearing. The Group is normally JENZRIEAETE - KREH —REN T30
granted credit terms ranging from 30 to 180 days. At the end of 180K 7 ZEH] - MBEHABIR - A RIEIR S
reporting period, ageing analysis of the trade payables, based on SHHEMBEBSTTOT

invoice date, is as follows:

2025 2024

—E-RE —E_F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET F#ET

Within 30 days 30K 1,555 1,325
31 to 60 days 31260XK 913 1,648
61 to 90 days 61290k 384 103
Over 90 days HBiBI0K 535 451
3,387 3,527
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3% 3= B 3

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. EHNEE
2025 2024
—E-RE ZEZNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Contract liabilities arising from lighting and e R KA EREED
furniture business aHEE 566 1,014
2025 2024
ZEZRF —TFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Movements in contract liabilities: AHEBENEE:
Balance at the beginning of the year FHEER 1,014 1,181
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of AFANERFEVFTAGLHEED
recognising revenue during the year that WEmEHEHBERD
was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (597) (669)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of Ak B & F /R fE R E mE B
advanced consideration received from BB &L N
customers 149 502
Balance at the end of the year FREH 566 1,014
When the Group receives sales deposits from customers before the EAEBERINEYHRSE 2B R FBHE
delivery of goods or services, this will give rise to contract liabilities Bl HeBERAYVREBELESANERE -
at the start of a contract. Contract liabilities are recognised until AHBBEEVIRESNLREFES 2B
the goods or services are delivered and accepted by the customers. R MRERKRREABHNR —FANER -

The unsatisfied performance obligations are expected to be
recognised within one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

23. LEASE LIABILITIES

Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as
lessee)

The Group leases various offices, retail shops and warehouses
under lease agreements. The terms of lease agreements are
between one to three years. The leases of certain retail shops
comprise fixed payments and variable payments over the lease
terms (call for additional rentals), which will be based on a certain
percentage of revenue of the operation being undertaken therein
pursuant to the terms and conditions as stipulated in the respective
rental agreement.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the leases. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing
was received,;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest
rate adjusted for credit risk of lessee; and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term and
security.

?HE%?%Z&%T(VE%E@EA)
AEEREBEEHZERETHAZE TEE
HWheE ZEHERRGRRE —E=F-
ETEEESNEERENEERELEE N
REFBHNR(BRBHIES) ARESHR
ﬂi%%ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬂﬁﬂE’Jﬂ%?ﬂ&f%iﬁﬁﬂ%?ﬁé%%%
W —EB N E

HEH TR E 5 £ /ﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁ BEBREsZEBAD
() {6 3R e AR 1 » TR & 13 8 T = e A0 AR ) 25k o
HEEETSE ﬁﬁf’ﬁﬂ"kZ#ﬁﬁ

MEFBEDEREER S ZMEI - MEX
HSEEZNE (AEEZHEBEWL) - Al
0 AR A Z 38 BAE 30 & - BIE R A TE AR
BUKEBERRRBBACUER - ER RETRE
ARGEEREEECEBERECEEMTZ
B2MGA 2N E -

BETESERTE  AEH -

. TE AT BB T A A B AR A T B ER TS
ZEZHBEEAREL  WELHAEL
RBEEREBE=ZFBENRBEKGZ

. ERARME BERABRAZERER
AEERBRNE K

. HHEFRFERE  MmEHREM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 & Bf 7% 3% 3= B 3

23. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 23. HEEBEw
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as HEXK 2 HE EAERBA) @
lessee) (continued)
Properties leased for own use 2025 2024
BEREEYE —E-RE —E 4
HK$000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Balance as at 1 April R A—Bz &8 14,291 21,601
Interest expense F B X H 1,116 1,877
Lease payments HERN® (15,323) (17,568)
Effect on lease modification HEBI o wE 11,663 8,381
Balance as at 31 March R=ZA=Z+—B2#&# 11,747 14,291
For the year ended 31 March 2025, the total cash outflows for the HE-_ZT-_hAF=-A=+—BHLEE A~EH
Group’s lease arrangements amounted to HK$15,934,000 (2024: HEZHRIR SR LT 15,934,0008 7T (=
HK$17,571,000). TP £ 17,571,000 L) °
The future lease payments of the Group's leases (excluding AEBHE(TRERBEE) HAEBEENK
short-term leases) were scheduled to repay as follows: RErEIERDT ¢

Future lease

payments Interest Present value
RREERE FIE RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FERT FET
As at 31 March 2025 R-ZB-HF=A=+—8H
Not later than one year TIEBR—F 8,954 (591) 8,363
Later than one year but not later ER —EERNER A4S
than five years 3,482 (98) 3,384
12,436 (689) 11,747
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZB-ME=A=+—8H
Not later than one year TER—F 12,475 (916) 11,559
Later than one year but not later EBR—FEBTENRTEFE
than five years 2,937 (205) 2,732
15,412 (1,121) 14,291
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23. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as
Iessee) (Continued)
The analysis of the present value of future lease payments is as

23. HEE B w
HEXK2ME (EAEABEAN) @

RRMEFEZRESFTOT

follows:

2025 2024
—ERE —ZENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET
Current liabilities mEBE 8,363 11,559
Non-current liabilities ERBAERE 3,384 2,732
11,747 14,291
2025 2024
—E-HHF —ZTE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Short-term lease expense REEELH 155 -

Expense relating to variable lease payments not T it AHE GBS 2 )3 HHEE
included in the measurement of lease liabilities <t Z AR S 456 3

ERAEEERERAT  2024/25F 8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in the deferred tax assets during the year are as
follows:

iR B IS MR Y R

N

24. EFER 18
BEEMRBEERAFE 2 ZEEBNT :

Unused tax Decelerated tax

losses depreciation Total

KB A R
RIEEE REWRE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FTERT FET
As at 1 April 2023 R-ZE_=F1A—H 714 216 930
Charged to profit or loss (note 12) A& (M3E12) (490) (216) (706)

As at 31 March 2024 and RZZTZWFE=RA=+—H

1 April 2024 ZTZmFMA—HAH 224 - 224
Charged to profit or loss (note 12) Bz (FF3E12) (104) - (104)
As at 31 March 2025 RZZ_RF=RA=+—H 120 - 120

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of HK$51,333,000 (2024: HK$49,884,000) available to offset
against the future taxable profit. Deferred tax asset of HK$120,000
(2024: HK$224,000) was recognised in respect of tax losses of
approximately HK$727,000 (2024: HK$1,358,000). No deferred
tax has been recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses as
it is uncertain whether future taxable profit will be available for
utilising the tax losses. Under current tax legislation, tax losses can
be carried forward indefinitely.
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25. SHARE CAPITAL

25. IR

Number of  Nominal value
ordinary of ordinary
shares shares
EZEREE LZEREE
HK$'000
THET
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each as at RNZE-_=FMA—H"
1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, —EoNFE=/A=+—H
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 CZECOERA-AR
—E-RF=ZA=1+—H
FREEC.OIB Tz ERE 1,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHAR:
As at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, RZT_=FmMA—AH"
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 —E-mMFE=A=+—H
CZEFENA-AR
—E-RF=A=+—8 451,035,713 4,510
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= AR

N

(=]

B g R M

Loss and total comprehensive income for the year amounted to HK$922
(2024: Profit and total comprehensive income at HK$810).
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26. RESERVES 26. &
Group rEH
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the AEERFAFEEINFBHRNGEERZE
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. BRT o
Share premium Iz 15 % 8
The share premium account of the Group represents the premium REB RN BEEBEPRRLEBEITIRMDT
arising from the issuance of shares at premium. EENRE -
Company AT
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
B 12 R ZitEiE At
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FERT FET FET
As at 1 April 2023 R-TE-_=ZFMA—AH 67,066 (68,246) (1,180)
Profit and total comprehensive  4F 3% 7 [z & T Y 25 48 58
income for the year (note) (B 5E) - 1 1
As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April R-Z-_ME=A=+—HK
2024 —“E-UFMEPA—H 67,066 (68,245) (1,179)
Loss and total comprehensive FARBEREARZBE
income for the year (note) CiE) - (1) (1)
As at 31 March 2025 R-_TF-_AF=A=+—~H 67,066 (68,246) (1,180)
Note: Bt EE -

FREBEREAREAERN2ET(ZE_NF &
MR E2HEKEAESI0ETT) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group had the following material transactions with its related
parties during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024:

Compensation of key management personnel
Key management personnel includes directors and senior
management. The compensation paid or payable to key
management personnel for employee services is shown below:

27.

BESTRS
AEERHE-_T-_AFR-_T-_WF=A
=t BILFERNGRRETET NIEARS

FTEEBEASZHMH
TEEEANBBREERSAEEAR -BX
NHENETEEEABNEERBHEMOT

2025 2024

—E_FHEF —E-OF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Salaries and other benefits e M H M AE A 4,885 5,773
Contributions to defined contribution M E B TR IRET 81 2 73

retirement plan 121 113

5,006 5,886

28. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

Below summary of financial assets and financial liabilities by

28. BRI ERMEERTHME

EHBE
BESESCHEERSBABOBENT :

category:
2025 2024
—E-HE —EZNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FB T FET
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost: KT B 2 BB E -
Trade and other receivables FE MUK TE K B At P MR IE 6,289 7,242
Cash and bank balances e MiRTTH 5,389 5,894
11,678 13,136
Financial liabilities sRas
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: KT ER BB (E -
Trade and other payables FE A R TE K B b P 5P FOIE 6,909 7,055
Other financial instruments HttemTHE
Lease liabilities HEAE 11,747 14,291
SREEEEZERBERDT 2024/25F %
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28.

29.

N

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
(Continued)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value
Financial instruments not measured at fair value include trade and
other receivables, cash and bank balances and trade and other
payables. Due to their short-term nature, the carrying values of the
above financial instruments approximate their fair values.

For disclosure purpose, the fair value of lease liabilities is not
materially different from their carrying value. The fair value is
determined by using discounted cash flow models and is classified
as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. Significant inputs include the
discount rate used to reflect the credit risks of the Group.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
including foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management procedures focus on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by key management under the
policies approved by the board of directors. The Group does not
have written risk management policies. However, the directors and
senior management of the Group meet regularly to identify and
evaluate risks and to formulate strategies to manage financial risks.

Generally, the Group employs a conservative strategy regarding
its financial risk management. As the directors consider that the
Group's exposure to financial risk is kept at a minimum level,
the Group has not used any derivatives or other instruments for
hedging purposes. The most significant risks to which the Group is
exposed to are described below:

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group undertakes certain purchase transactions
denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposure to
exchange rate fluctuations arises. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arises.

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25

28.

29.

iR B IS MR Y R

RENS - EMEERETHME
BEBE @

TULAFEFEZESHMIA
PARFEAENTH T AT RKFIALHE
EWRIE  Re RIRITAERS  BNIREBERE
MENRE - AR EEANE eI A
MREEEE QN FEES

EERZEY HEREMAFERAKREENS
BEARDH - ERAFEDRERRESRE

BUBERSEALATEERZE=M - HE
B A B 45 I R R S 5 B R R 2
EES

BB ERER

AEEMEBAZZEMBRRL : BHEIIER
- FEERRBERDESRR AEBEMHEE
R EREFSt HHARINSRT S I
REEREAARAEEMBREMBRELER

B 488
HEZ -

RERER Y AEITEEEERELEZTSHED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The Group is mainly exposed to foreign exchange fluctuation
of the Euro ("EUR"), United States dollar (*USD") and
Renminbi (“RMB") against HKS.

Since HK$ is pegged to USD, management considers that
there is no significant foreign currency risk between these
two currencies to the Group.

The Group's trade payables denominated in EUR and RMB
are in insignificant amount at the end of each of reporting
periods. The directors are of the opinion that the volatility of
the Group's results against change in exchange rate of EUR
and RMB would not be significant. Accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis is performed.

Credit risk

Credit risk includes risks resulting from counter party default
and risks of concentration. The Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to its trade and other receivables. Management
has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Most of the retail sales are made in cash or by credit cards.
In respect of sales on credit, the Group trades on credit only
with corporate customers who have an established trading
history with the Group. The Group has policies in place for
the control and monitoring of relevant credit risks. These
credit evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates.

As at 31 March 2025, the trade receivables from the five
largest debtors represented 28% (2024: 38%) of the total
trade receivables respectively, while the largest debtor
represented 8% (2024: 15%) of the total trade receivables
respectively.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using
a provision matrix or on an individual basis. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases,
except for trade receivables assessed on an individual basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 4 Bf 7 3R 2 B =T

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 29. B 7% R e B IR
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) %EE‘:@(%)
The following table provides information about the Group's TREHREANAEER -_ZE_AF R
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at ToNF=ZA=t+—HRERZRENE
31 March 2025 and 2024: RHEERRITEREEBENAR
Expected  Gross carrying Loss
2025 loss rate amount allowance
—EB-RHE FHERLE BEEE BiEBE
HK$000 HK$'000
% FExT FExT
Not yet due 7 i85 1.00 55 (1)
Overdue 1-180 days # H1-180K 1.00 35 -
90 (1)
Individual assessment 18 Bl 5T f 426 (421)
516 (422)
2024 HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-IEF % FET FHET
Not yet due A % 5A 0.87 115 (1)
Overdue 1-180 days # HB1-180K 1.24 161 (2)
276 (3)
Individual assessment 18 Al 5T 412 (396)
688 (399)
Expected loss rate is estimated based on actual loss RHERLEEDREBEBASFNEREE
experience over the past 5 years. The rate is adjusted to REREET o LR TG AE AR &
reflect differences between economic conditions during E S S EA R A & ARR - B AR R A
the period over which the historic data has been collected, N 7K 2 B ¥ jE W SR TE ) TE B A BB R A
current conditions and the Group's view of economic BRRZ BEANER -

conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances

29. BIERARERE @
(b) EERK @
TRITEREBWFIBEBULFRNFEHE

that has been recognised for trade receivables which is EEIERRA EBEE Y HE
measured under lifetime ECLs:
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
— provision - individual
matrix assessment
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
FRAFEHEE FRAFHEE
EiE-REER &5 18 -1E Bl S5
(EEERE) (E&RME) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
As at 1 April 2023 R-ZZE-_=ZFMA—A 4 359 363
Impairment loss (reversed)/  SER{EEE (B@) R
recognised (1) 37 36
As at 31 March 2024 and 1 RZZ-_WNFE=A=+—H
April 2024 —ZE-WEMNA—H 3 396 399
Impairment loss (reversed)/  JR{EEE (#@) R
recognised (2) 25 23
As at 31 March 2025 R-_TE-_HF=F=+—H 1 421 422

ERAEEERERAT  2024/25F 8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

The Group measured loss allowance for a trade deposit
based on 12-month ECLs. The deposit is unsecured, interest
free, repayable in one year and included in trade and
other receivables (note 20). The loss allowance for ECLs is
calculated by reference to any historical default, current
market condition in relation to the debtor’s exposure and
time value of money where appropriate. The ECLs also
incorporated forward looking information with reference to
general macroeconomic conditions that may affect the ability
of the debtors to settle the deposit.

The credit risks on rental deposits are considered to be low
as they can be recovered by offsetting against the rental
payments.

For other receivables, the Group regularly monitors the
financial position of the counterparties to assess the
recoverability of the outstanding balances.

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are reputable and creditworthy
banks.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be
able to meet its obligations associated with its financial
liabilities and financial instruments that are settled by
delivering cash or other financial assets. The Group is
exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade and
other payables, lease liabilities and also in respect of its cash
flow management. The cash management of all operating
entities is centralised, including the raising of funds to cover
expected cash demands. The Group’s objective is to maintain
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4r & BF 7% 3 % Fff 5

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 29. B ELFe B B o)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (0 RBELERM®
The following tables show the remaining contractual TREFPBEHRRAEEBIETE SR
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group's BELNEMESR T ANG TAELES
non-derivative financial liabilities and other financial o IR RAEB A RE R BRI H
instruments, based on undiscounted cash flows and the FHEHBEsRMEBENXRERARERE
earliest date the Group can be required to pay. 4B o
Less than Total
1 year or on undiscounted Carrying
demand 1-2years 2 - 5 years cash flows amount
PRE RBEBRS
HEEX 126 2-5% RERE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TAT FTHER FER FER
At 31 March 2025 R=ZZE-RF
=A=+-—H
Trade and other FE B R E A
payables FE FRIE 6,909 - - 6,909 6,909
Lease liabilities HERE 8,954 3,482 - 12,436 11,747
15,863 3,482 - 19,345 18,656
At 31 March 2024 R=-Z-NfF
=A=+—H
Trade and other B RIE R EH A
payables FERT /IR 7,055 - - 7,055 7,055
Lease liabilities HEBE 12,475 2,506 431 15,412 14,291
19,530 2,506 431 22,467 21,346

ERAKEZERBRAR  2024/25F K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 &

B g R M

30. NOTE SUPPORTING CONSOLIDATED 30. FERERERZBRME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: METHEANBEZHIE
Lease liabilities (note 23) 2025 2024
HEA®E (W:E23) —E_RF —EPFE
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Balance at the beginning of the year FHEe 14,291 21,601
Changes from cash flows: ReneEs
Repayment of principal portion of the lease (EEHEaGEZAEHBY
liabilities (14,207) (15,691)
Repayment of interest portion of the lease EBEEHEAGEZMNEZ D
liabilities (1,116) (1,877)
(15,323) (17,568)
Other changes: ,H\ﬁﬁ“ :
Interest on lease liabilities EBaENE 1,116 1,877
Effect on lease modification 7’I‘E =4 JZE/’ 11,663 8,381
12,779 10,258
Balance at the end of the year FEREH 11,747 14,291
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31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4; & B 7% 3 2% B 5

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 31. EXEkEE
The Group's capital management objectives are to safeguard the AEBZEAERBENREAEENZEES
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide B LAARKREIEMEIHR L A M A S AREE IR
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, to HAE HERREEARAEBURLE S AN
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital EXHEAREBZEFUERERZEN - AEH
and to support the Group’s stability and growth. The Group BRETEHRILEEEEARNGERE REBEE
actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure, KEBZAKRESGTE  UHBRGEKERE
taking into consideration the future capital requirements of the [o] ] ©
Group, to ensure optimal shareholder returns.
The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments AEBEESALRE URBESERIAEDH R
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk HEEENRBEEEEELAE - A
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or FAEERNEE AEBARESABRINFRE
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of MRESHE MERREEERN BTHK £
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue ENEHEREEEEURDVER -
new shares, raise new debts or sells assets to reduce debt.
The total equity to total assets ratio at the end of reporting period RMERRNIERABEHEEQBLRNOT ¢
is as follows:
2025 2024
—E_-RE —E_OF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Total equity T 4,023 8,689
Total assets BEMRTE 24,490 31,251
Total equity to total assets ratio RN EEETRL X 0.16: 1 0.28: 1
ERAFEEZERERAA  2024/255FF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47 & B 7% 3 2% B &+

32. SUMMARISED FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

32. AN A B R AR R E

2025 2024
—E-EHF —EPFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B & FET FE T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RRIAIEE 2,700 2,700
Current assets REBEE
Other receivable H Aty YR IE 41 41
Bank balances and cash RITEH LB ® 594 592
635 633
Total assets EEHAE 3,335 3,333
Current liabilities REAE
Amounts due to related companies [ & N 73K IE (5) (2)
Net current assets REBEEFE 630 631
NET ASSETS EEZRE 3,330 3,331
Equity En
Share capital fi& 7 25 4,510 4,510
Reserves & 26 (1,180) (1,179)
TOTAL EQUITY A 3,330 3,331

On behalf of the Board
RERESE

Hui Kwok

Keung Raymond

HrE®

Director

BE
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2024 are as follows:

N
\

33. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Group’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 and

33. B D RFH1E
AEBR - ZE-_HER-_ZE-_NE=ZA=+—
BzWEBRARFBENT

Issued and
fully paid share

NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Attributable
equity interest held

i A B S R BT R

Place and date of capital by the Group Principal activities
Name incorporation/establishment BETR AEEBEN and place of operation
a8 MR,/ KL R A BRRE EiERAER TEXBREFLE
Top Triumph Global Limited BVI, 20 November 2013 Us$1 100% direct Investment holding
RERAES (E 100%E # RERR
—Z-ZF+-A=TH
Central United Global Limited BVI, 18 November 2010 Us$100 100% indirect Investment holding
RBRAHS 1003 7T 100% 5 RERR
I R WAL=
Elegant Chain Development Limited ~ BVI, 8 August 2008 Us$140 100% indirect Investment holding
RBRAHS 140% 7T 100% 5 RERR
ZZZN\ENANAB
Top Investor Global Limited BVI, 11 November 2014 Us$1 100% indirect Investment holding
RBRAHS (ETH 100% 5 RERR
ZZ-mE+—-A+—H
Central Sky Holdings Limited Hong Kong, 24 October 2003 HK$10 100% indirect Retail of lighting products in
PRERBRARA EB —FT=FTA-TEA 1057t 100% % Hong Kong
REETERHER
E Lighting Group Limited Hong Kong, 4 January 2011 HK$10,000 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
BR —T-—5—-AIA 10,000/ 7 100% 4% and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REEZERHERRTE
Element Lighting Design Limited Hong Kong, 11 May 2005 HK$10 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
BEARERAA BR —ZTHRERAT-A 107 7T 100% 4% and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REEZERHERRTE
Good Harvest Surplus Limited Hong Kong, 20 May 2011 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
ELRERRA & —2-——FRA=+A T 100% 4% and household furniture in

ERAKEZRAERAA

Hong Kong
REBRZERBER LKA

2024/25F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4 4 Bf 7 3R 2 B =T

33. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

33. B A B FHBw

Issued and
fully paid share

Attributable
equity interest held

Place and date of capital by the Group Principal activities
Name incorporation/establishment BETK AEEFRERH and place of operation
£ MR R A BRERAE FEAh R A 1 & TEEBREELE
RS Holdings Limited Hong Kong, 23 February 2009 HK$10,000 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
BB ZZTAF-AZ+=8B 10,0005 100% % and household furniture in
Hong Kong
RERZERBERRKEA
228 Inc Limited Hong Kong, 6 November 2013 HK$10,000 100% indirect Retail of lighting products in
E# —T-=F+—ARA 10,0003 & 100% % Hong Kong
RERZERBER
Culture Art Limited Hong Kong, 6 October 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
XEBRANA EE “Z-METARAE 18T 100% & # and household furniture in
Hong Kong
RERZERBERRKEA
Major Will Limited Hong Kong, 6 October 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
% ZE-NE+ARA 1T 100% % and household furniture in
Hong Kong
RERZERBERRKA
ELG Operations Limited Hong Kong, 14 October 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Sourcing of lighting products
SRASEZERRAA % ZET-NE+ATHEA 1T 100% % and household furniture in
Hong Kong
REERRBRHERRKA
ELG Management Limited Hong Kong, 14 October 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Provision of management
SRASEERERAA % ZET-NE+ATHEA 1T 100% % services in Hong Kong
REBREERRY
Urban Lifestyle Limited Hong Kong, 26 November 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
EE —_T-OFt—-AZTRRE 1ER 100% % and household furniture in

E Lighting Group Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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33. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

33. B A BB w

Issued and Attributable
fully paid share equity interest held
Place and date of capital by the Group Principal activities
Name incorporation/establishment BETR rEEREEMN and place of operation
A8 HMAYL/ Rt HR A BRERE R ARER TEERREFLHY
Lighting Connected Limited Hong Kong, 26 November 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
FE “E-MET-AZTRE AR 100% % and household furniture in
Hong Kong
RERZERBERRKA
Real Luck Limited Hong Kong, 1 December 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Retail of lighting products
EF “Z-MET-A-H BT 100% % and household furniture in
Hong Kong
RERZERBERRKA
Trendmall Group Limited Hong Kong, 2 December 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Investment holding
EE —E-NE+T-AZH BT 100% A% REZR
Trendmall Gallery Limited Hong Kong, 15 December 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Provision of management
e EERRDA F& “Z-MET-AT+HAE 18T 100% services in Hong Kong
REBRMBERRB
Trendmall International Limited Hong Kong, 15 December 2014 HK$1 100% indirect Wholesale of tableware and
F& “Z-MET-AT+HAE 18T 100% i # its related products and

Note: None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of

the year.

international trade in

Hong Kong
REBHEEERENAR

ERRERES

M : MBARRFREYBBITEMNBEES -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBERE

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=t-HLEE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E_RE —E-ME =5 k- S 3 —E--F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TET THT TEL THL
OPERATING RESULTS ek
Revenue EEH 69,737 74,347 78,927 83,891 82,227
Cost of sales HEMA 34,390 (35,194) (36,619) (37,652) (38,173)
Gross profit eS| 35,347 39,153 42,308 46,239 44,054
Other income, gain and losses HEilA - WS RER 283 913 1,628 734 4,069
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEHY (20,468) (27,271) (28,318) (27,422) (23,005)
Administrative and other expenses THREMAR (12,387) (14,469) (17,094) (15,373) (14,169)
Impairment loss on property, plantand ~ #1% - BRE kR EREFE
equipment (38) (95) (58) (8) (160)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FREEERESR (5,771) (6,831) 2.411) (421) (1,762)
Expected credit losses recognised on REBEERANBEEEFE
financial assets (23) (36) (1,603) (1,139) (121)
Interest on lease liabilities HEEEANE (1,116) (1,877) (924) (761) (642)
(Loss)/Profit before tax BB A (BE) /%A (4,173) (10,513) (6,472) 1,849 8,264
Income tax (expense)/credit frEs (AX) /£ (493) (998) (373) 546 (107
(Loss)/Profit and total comprehensive &2 T & A
income for the year attributable to ~ E X (F#8) /&7
owners of the Company REEKFEE (4,666) (11,511) (6,845) 2,395 8,157
As at 31 March
R=B=+-H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—ECRE —ZE-ME —E--E —E-CE —E--&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THL THL THT T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERER
Total assets AEEE 24,490 31,251 49,601 54,350 53,974
Total liabilities BERE 20,467 (22,562) (29,401) (27,305) (29,324)
Net assets EEFE 4,023 8,689 20,200 27,045 24,650
Total equity ERER 4,023 8,689 20,200 27,045 24,650
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